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LEwisA. KAPLAN, District Judge.

The plaintiffsin these consolidated class actions were investors in the securities of
the international dairy conglomerate Parmalat Finanziaria S.p.A. and subsidiaries and affiliates
(collectively “Parmalat”). They allege that Parmalat’ s officers, directors, accountants, lawyers, and
banksmade representationsand structured transactionsthat operated to defraud Parmal a’ sinvestors
in violation of Sections 10(b)* and 20(a)? of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5°
thereunder.

This opinion addresses the motions of the defendant banksto dismiss the actions as
to them pursuant to Rules 12(b) and 9(b) of the Federd Rules of Civil Procedure. They require
consideration of, among other issues, the contours of subsections (a) and (c) of Rule 10b-5, which
prohibit “any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud” and “any act, practice, or course of business
which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person” in connection with the

purchase or sale of any security.

1. The Complaint and the Motions to Dismiss
As described in an earlier opinion,* the plaintiffs purport to represent classes of

persons who purchased Parmalat securities from January 5, 1999 to December 18, 2003 (the “ Class

15 U.S.C. § 78j(b).

Id. 8 78t(a).

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

In re Parmalat Sec. Litig, No. 04 MD 1653 (LAK), 2005 WL 1527674 (S.D.N.Y. June 28,
2005) (“Parmalat I").
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Period.”).> The 368-page amended consolidated complaint details variousfraudulent actsallegedly

perpetrated by Parmalat and the defendants.

A. Citigroup

1 Factual Allegations

Citigroup Inc. and Citibank, N.A. (“Citibank™), and their subsidiaries and affiliates

(collectively “Citigroup”), are aleged “knowingly and actively [to have] participated in the

fraudulent scheme” and to have had “intimate knowledge” of Parmdat’ sfinancesthroughits” close

relationship with itsimportant client” and its“ direct participation in the fraudulent activities.”® The

complaint describes three specific arrangements involving Citigroup.

invoices.’

a. Securitization of Invoices

The first involved Citigroup’s purchase and securitization of allegedly worthless

Theplaintiffsare (a) Hermes Focus A sset Management Europe, Ltd. (“HFAME”), aBritish
fund management company owned 51 percent by the BT Pension Scheme, a United
Kingdom corporate pension fund, and 49 percent by HermesFocus A sset Management, L td.,
(b) Hermes European Focus Fund |, alimited partnership of which the general partner is
HFAME, (c) Hermes European Focus Fund I1, alimited partnership of which the genera
partner isHFAME, (d) Hermes European Focus Fund 111, alimited partnership of which the
general partner is HFAME and the limited partner is California Public Employees
Retirement System, (e) Cattolica Partecipazioni S.p.A., (f) Capital & Finance Asset
Management S.A., (g) Societe Moderne des Terrassements Parisiens, (h) Solotrat S.A., (i)
LauraJ. Sturaitis, aUnited States citizen, and Arch Angelus Sturaitis, a permanent United
States resident alien, as joint tenants with right of survivorship, and (j) Paolo Bianco, a
United States citizen.

First Am. Consol. Class Action Cpt. (“Cpt.”) 11 784, 786-87.

1d. 1 20.
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Under agreementsenteredintoin 1995, 1999, 2000, and 2001, invoicesfor goods sold
by various Parmal at subsidiarieswere purchased by defendant EurekaSecuritisation plc (“ Eureka’),
a Citigroup affiliate, as well as by Eureka's wholly-owned Italian subsidiary, Archimede
Securitization Sir.l. (“Archimede’). Archimede and Eurekathen sold commercial paper secured by
the invoices.® This securitization alone would appear to have been neither unusual nor deceptive.

Thedeception allegedly stemmed from Parmal at’ sbilling system, under which many
of the invoices were in effect duplicates that did not represent anything actually due. Parmalat
supplied supermarketsand other retail ersthrough anetwork of wholesaledeal ers. These dea erswere
invoiced for each delivery and typically paid Parmalat the full amount of the invoices. The dealers
sometimes sold to retailers on their own account and sometimes distributed Parmala’ s products to
supermarkets on Parmalat’ s behalf. In the latter case, the dealer would furnish to Parmalat proof of
delivery to the supermarket. Parmalat then would issue a second invoice, this one directly to the
supermarket, and undertake to reimburse the dealer for the goodsit distributed to the supermarket.
In other words, when a dealer acted purely as Parmalat’ s distributor, amounts that the dealer owed
Parmalat for goods distributed for Parmalat were offset by Parmalat’ s corresponding obligation to
reimburse the dealer.’ Like the securitization of receivables, there appears to have been nothing
remarkable or deceptive about this billing system —which the complaint implies had been used for

forty years'® — standing alone.

1d. 191 273-77, 281, 284-85, 288-89.

Id. 11 808-09, 812.
10

1d. 11 290, 806-09.
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The problem was that Parmalat assigned to Archimedes and Eureka, and they then
securitized, both the supermarket invoices, which represented receivables, and the corresponding
deder invoicesfor the same goods. The latter did not represent a real revenue stream for Parmalat
because Parmala was obligated to reimburse the dealers the same amounts that the dealers owed
Parmalat.** In other words:

“Citibank sold investors the supermarket invoices and the dealer invoices, even

though . . . Parmadat was entitled to receive money from just one set of invoices.

Citibank therefore double counted theinvoices. .. ."*?

The arrangement generated approximately $348 million during the Class Period.*

Thecomplaint alegesthat Citigroup structured the program, performed duediligence,
and had detail ed knowledge as early as 1995 of Parmal at’ sinvoicing system, including theduplicate
invoices. Citibank installed proprietary software on Parmalat’s computer network that allowed
Citibank “to determine which receivables were eligible for the securitization program and to

regularly audit Parmalat’s sales.”* Citibank thus “knew that the securitization program Citibank

designed would create a false impression about Parmalat’s cash flow from its operations, and

1
Id. 11 290, 812.
12
Id. | 812.
13
1d. 111273, 293, 818.
14
1d. 1111 278-79, 282-83, 290, 803-12.
15

1d. 1 278.
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therefore mislead the market about Parmalat’s real financial condition.”*® Citigroup allegedly
received $35 million in fees for itsrole in the securitization program.*”

The complaint alleges as well a separate aspect to the scheme. The applicable
regul ationsgoverning securitization permitted only independent financial institutions, not theentities
generating the receivables, to collect on them. Eureka and Archimede, however, allegedly assigned
back to Parmalat the right to collect payment on the invoices. Parmalat’s characterization on its
bal ance sheets of the arrangement with Eurekaand Archimede as asecuritization rather than as debt

therefore all egedly was mideading.™

b. The Geslat / Buconero Arrangement
The complaint assertsalso that Citibank structured transactions in which several of
its subsidiaries made loans to Parmalat that were disguised as equity investments.” The alleged
reason for the scheme was that Parmalat was performing poorly, but it did not want to damage its
credit rating by issuing debt through the bond markets. Citibank alegedly knew that Parmalat would
use the arrangement to mask its debt on its financial statements.®

The arrangement began in 1995, when Parmalat entered into an agreement with

16
Id. 19 813, 816.
17
Id. 1 818.
18
Id. 111292, 815; see also id. | 773(h).
19
Id. 11 24, 256.
20
Id. 11 791-93.
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Citibank styled asajoint venture. In connection with the agreement, Parmalat set up aSwissbranch
of itssubsidiary, GestioneCentraleL atteS.r.l. (“ Geslat™), to which Citibank contributed funds. The
Swiss branch of Geslat was to make loans to other companiesin the Parmalat group, with Citibank
receiving a proportional share of the profits from those loans. At the same time, Parmalat gave
Citibank aput option that allowed Citibank to sell itsinterest in Gesla back to Parmalat a a price
that guaranteed that Citibank would receive areturn on its investment.?

On December 9, 1999, Citibank dtered the arrangement so that the funds would be
provided by two Citibank subsidiaries, defendants Buconero LLC (“Buconero”) and Vialattea LLC
(“Vialattea’), both Delaware limited liability companies.?? Asthe plaintiffs unflaggingly point out,
“Buconero” means “black hole” in Italian.? Geslat guaranteed that Citibank would receive a |east
acertain fixed rate of return.** Buconero would be responsible for Geslat’ s lossesiif they exceeded
a certain threshold, but Citibank could avoid that condition entirely because it had the right to
dismantle the relaionship with Geslat and require the repayment of its contribution if Gedat’s

performance or Parmalat’ s creditworthiness declined.?

21
1d. 1 24, 257-59
22
1d. 1 173-74, 260.
23
E.g., id. 9924, 173, 255, 266, 518.
24

1d. 1 796.

The complaint at a different point sates that Geslat agreed to “endeavor” to earn at least
this minimum rate. /d. 1 264. The Court accepts the allegation of a guarantee because all
reasonable inferences are to be drawn in plaintiffs’ favor at this stage.

25

Id. 1 796.
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From 1999 to 2001, Buconero and Vialattea contributed as much as $120 million to
Geslat.?® Parmalat recorded these funds as equity on its balance sheets. The funds, however, were
in reality loans at favorable interest rates and therefore should have been recorded as debt.?” The
result was to understate Parmalat’s liabilities by $137 million, permitting the conglomerate to
conceal its troubles in South America and €lsewhere.?® Following Parmalat’s collapse, Citibank
publicly characterized the investments as debt and Sated that “today we would only do this type of
transaction if aclient agreed to provide greater disclosure.”?

A Parmalat press release dated November 21, 2003 and “approved”* by Citigroup
made the following disclosures;®

“Parmalat Finanziaria
details of participation agreement

* * %

“On December 16, 1999, Gedlat Srl, aconsolidated subsidiary, acting asleadfirmvia
itsbranch officein Lugano (Switzerland), entered into aparticipation agreement with

26

1d. 11 261-62, 264, 773(k).
27

1d. 11 265-66, 268, 773(k), 795-97.
28

1d. 11 266, 269, 795.
29

1d. 1 800.
30

1d. 1 267.
31

The complaint purportsto quote from the press release, the contents of which are integral
to the allegations agai nst Citigroup under Rule 10b-5(b). The Court therefore has consulted
and quotes from the complete copy submitted by Citigroup. See, e.g., In re Merrill Lynch
Ltd. P’ships Litig., 154 F.3d 56, 58 (2d Cir. 1998); San Leandro Emergency Med. Group
Profit Sharing Plan v. Philip Morris Cos., 75 F.3d 801, 808-09 (2d Cir. 1996); In re NTL,
Inc. Sec. Litig., 347 F. Supp.2d 15, 21 (S.D.N.Y. 2004).



athird party, Buconero LLC, a Citicorp group company, acting as partner. . . .

“The partner, whose contribution amounts to atotal of 117 million euros, receives
a return determined each year on the basis of the company’s net profit before
appropriation of net profit attributable to the partner, as is common practice in
relation to participation agreements.

“Geslat Srl usesthe partner’ s contribution and the capital of the company and of the
Parmalat Group to grant loans to consolidated companies in the accounts of the
Parmalat Group. As of December 31, 2002 such loans amounted to 458 million
euros.

“Thetransaction enabl esaleadinginternational group to participaeinand contribute
to the devel opment of the Parmalat Group’ sbusinesses through itsrole asa partner.
In December 1999, the parties signed a five-year business plan governing the
activities of the company and its Lugano branch office. Gedlat Srl gave the partner,
Buconero, an undertaking to comply with certain restrictions. The company thus
undertook to maintain the branch officein Lugano, to use the partner’ s contribution
and the company’s capital for the purposes defined in the company’s articles of
association . . . [and] to not raise further funds or carry out capital increases unless
provided for by specific legislaion . . . . The participation agreement will
automatically terminate on expiry of the business plan, unless anew business plan
is agreed by the parties.

* * %

“In the notes to Parmala Finanziaria Spa's consolidated financial statements, the
noteto * Shareholders’ equity attributabletominorityinterests’ specifiesthat minority
interests in the share capital and reserves include financial contributions deriving
from a participation agreement drawn up by a consolidated company, in partnership
with athird-party financier acting as partner.”*

Citibank, which regarded the Gedlat transactions as a financing arrangement rather

than as equity investments,® received annual returns from them of approximately $5 to $6 million

as well as approximately $7 million in fees for structuring the transactions. Citibank derived tax

32

33

Butler Decl. Ex. A.

Cpt. 1 797.



benefits as well >
c. Parmalat Canada Arrangement

Thefinal set of allegationsagainst Citigroup also involvesthe alleged classification
of debt as equity.®

In 1997 and 1998, Parmalat purchased three Canadian food and dairy companies
(collectively “Parmalat Canada’). Citibank helped finance the purchase with capital contributions
of C$171.9 million. The agreement between Parmalat and Citibank provided that Parmalat Canada
either would be publicly listed or that Citibank could put itsinterest back to Parmalat for a specified
amount.® Parmalat recorded Citibank’ sinvestmentsas equity onitsfinancial statementswhen they
should have been recorded as high-interest |oans because the put option meant that Citibank bore
no risk.®” Furthermore, Parmalat’s financial statements allegedly failed to disclose the put option

after 1999.® A senior Citibank executive alegedly misrepresented the nature of Citibank’s

34

Id. 11 788-89.

35
1d. 1 25.
36
1d. 11 369-74, 376, 380-82.
37
1d. 1125, 377-79, 384-85.
38

The complaint alleges that the put agreement was “secret” and “never disdosed to
Parmalat’ s regulators, shareholders or creditors,” and that Parmalat provided insufficient
disclosureregardingthe arrangement initsfinancial statementsand publicfilingsfor fiscal
years 1999, 2000, and 2001. Id. 11 379, 384-85, 820. It specifically states, however, that
Parmalat’ sannual report for 1999 described the put agreement. Id. 11 378, 510. The Court
thereforeinfers that the put option was disdosed in 1999 but not again.
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involvement in Parmalat Canada in statements to the pressin 1997 and 1998.%
The complaint asserts that “ Citibank designed the financing transactions to engble
Parmal at to characterizethem asequity and thereby maintain the fal se appearance of alower debt-to-
equity ratio.”*° The bank received C$1.3 million in subscription fees and C$5.6 million in financial
advisory fees aswell as a net tax-free gain of C$47.82 million upon the exercise of the put option.
According to the complaint, “[t]his abnormally high return can only be explained by the illegd

nature of the activity.”*

2. Causes of Action, Grounds for Motion to Dismiss

The complaint assertscauses of actionagaing the Citigroup defendantsfor violation
of Rules 10b-5(a) and (c) and 10b-5(b). It asserts also clams against Citigroup Inc. and Citibank
under Section 20(a) for alleged primary violations of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 by Citibank,
Buconero, Vialattea, and Eureka

Citigroup arguesthat it was not a primary violator, the allegations are deficient asto
scienter, causation, and reliance, and the complaint fails to state a claim for controlling person

liability under Section 20(a).

39

1d. 11 374-75.
40

1d. 1 822.
41

1d. 1823.
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B. Bank of America

1. Factual Allegations

The complaint describes two arrangements involving defendants Bank of America
Corporation (“BoA Corp.”), Bank of America, N.A. (“BANA”), and Banc of America Securities
Limited (“BASL"), and their subsidiaries and affiliates (collectively “BoA™).* Theplaintiffsallege
that BoA “was aware of the true value of Parmalat’ s assets and liabilities’ but was “motivated to
participate” in fraud becauseit wanted to maintain and capitalize onits lucrative relaionship with

Parmalat.*

a. The Parmalat Administracao Private Placement

Thefirst set of allegations against BoA involvesloansto private investors disguised
as an equity investment in a Brazilian Parmalat subsidiary that the plaintiffs call “Parmalat
Empreendimentos e Administracao” (*Parmalat Administracao”).

INn 1999, BoA proposed and arranged what appearedto bethe sale of an 18.18 percent
interest in Parmalat Administracao to a group of investors led by BoA for $300 million. Inredlity,
however, the investors purchased four-year notes issued by two special purpose Cayman Islands
entitiesand guaranteed by Parmal at. Furthermore, aswith Citibank’ sParmal at Canadaarrangement,

the investors had the right to put their investments back to Parmalat if Parmalat Administracao did

42
Id. |1 177-81.
43

Id. 1 853.

Id. 11 834, 837, 854.
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not become publicly listed.* BoA and Parmalat allegedly knew that such alisting waseconomically

impractical and therefore would not occur.*

BoA*" and Parmalat co-wrote a Parmal at press release issued December 18, 1999 in

which they stated in pertinent part:*®

“New shareholders for Parmalat in Brazil

“Parmalat Administracao Ltda. . . hasincreasedits share capital infavour of aGroup
of North American investors lead [sic] by Bank of America The transaction,
completed yesterday, will generatefor Parmalat Administracao acashinflow of USD
150 million. Then, thereisan option for the transaction to be increased, up totheend
of thismonth, by afurther USD 150 million. Should this option be exercised the new
shareholders will own dlightly over 18% of the company’ s share capital.

“Thetotal implied valueattributed to Parmal a Administracao amountsto some USD
1[.]35 hillion. . . .

“Theobjectiveof thetransactionisto further strengthen the Group presencein Brazil
...and also to lay the ground for the floatation of the Brazilian company within the
next four years.

45

46

47

48

1d. 11 396-97, 849.

1d. 11 398, 400.

Specificaly, the complant alleges that a BoA employee named Luca Sala assisted a
Parmalat executive in drafting the press release. See id. 1 400, 849. The parties dispute
whether Sala actudly worked for BoA. BASL has submitted an affidavit from a BoA
employee stating that Sala did not work for BASL. Buxton Aff. Whether Sala actually
worked for BoA and, if he did, which BoA subsidiary employed him, isimmaterial at this
stage. The Court is required to accept the alegation in the complaint that Sala was an
employee of BoA and that as BoA’s agent, he assisted in the drafting of the press release.
Theaffidavit submitted by BASL isexcluded because the Court considersit inappropriate
to convert the motion to dismissinto onefor summary judgment, see FED. R. Civ. P. 12(b),
at this early stage.

The Court quotes from the copy of the press release submitted by BoA. See footnote 31
above.
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“Should the Brazilian company not be listed within the next four years, Parmalat
Administracao’ s new shareholderswill havethe option to sell the sharesacquiredin
the capital increase back to the Parmalat Group. In this event, the cost to Parmalat
would be equal to the original price paid by the North American investorsincreased
by a spread consistent with the most recent financial transactions undertaken by the
Group on the international capital markets.”*
Thispressreease allegedly “made it appear as though [Parmalat] was issuing new equity for cash
tofinance Parmalat’ sexpansion.”*° Inits 1999 Annual Report, Parmal at included similar language,™
which allegedly wasfal se and “ conceal ed the fact that instead of being an equity transaction. . . , the
deal was really a $300 million private debt placement partly secured by the Brazilian stake.”*?
Furthermore, the funds were assigned to a Uruguayan subsidiary rather than used for the Brazilian
operations.>
Thecomplaint allegesadditiond, rel ated transactions. BoA entered into an agreement
with Parmalat pursuant to which BoA fronted to the Cayman Islands companies the funds needed

to makeinterest paymentson thefour-year notes. When it became clear that Parmalat could not raise

the money to redeem the notes, BoA assumed some of the exposure and attempted to offer another

49
Pietrzak Decl. Ex. A.
50
Cpt. 1850; accord id. 11 399-400.
51
See id. 1 401.

By thetime of the annual report, the option to acquire an additional $150 million had been
exercised.

52
1d. 402.
53
1d. 1 404.
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private placement to cover it.**
BoA and an Italian bank received as much as $38.5 million in fees and commissions

for their role in the Parmalat Administracao private placement.

b. Loans Backed by Funds Raised Through Private Placements

The complaint alleges aswell that BoA extended |oans to Parmalat subsidiariesand
required that the loans be secured with funds raised from private placements of debt issued by
Parmalat and underwritten by BoA. In essence, BoA transferred the risk of default on these loans
from itself to purchasers of Parmdat’ s debt. The complaint includes three examples of such loans:
an $80 millionloanin 1998 to Parmalat subsidiariesin Venezuela, a$100 million loan to aBrazilian
subsidiary in September 1998, and an $80 million loan to Parmalat Capital Finance in December
2001.*

With full disclosure, of course, there would have been nothing deceptive about these
transactions. The complaint, however, dleges that: (a) “[n]either Bank of America nor Parmd at
disclosed [that a 1998 $80 million offering] was reated to the Venezuelan loan, or that the $80
million loan was done to pay off a 1997 Bank of America loan in the same amount to Parmalat

Venezudathat lacked the same security for Bank of America,”* (b) “[i]n each instance, Bank of

54
1d. 19 850-51.
55
See id. 1 850, 852.
56
1d. 11 839-48.
57

1d. 1 846.
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Americapublicly announced it had made a conventional |oan in the stated amount to Parmalat. The
reality of these transactions, however, was much different,”* and (c) “ side | etter agreements. . . that
required Parmalat to pay additional interest on itsloans’ were not disclosed.*

BoA allegedly earned over $30 millionin feesand interest from these transactions.®

2. Causes of Action, Grounds for Motions to Dismiss

The complaint includes causes of action against the BoA defendants for violations
of Rules 10b-5(a) and (c) and 10b-5(b), aswell as causes of action under Section 20(a) against each
of BoA Corp., BANA, and BASL for alleged primary violations of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5
by various BoA subsidiaries, agents, and employees.

BoA® arguesthat the Rule 10b-5(b) claimsfail because BoA madeno misstatements
or actionable omissions, any alleged misstatements or omissions and scienter are not pled with the
required specificity, andthe allegationsregarding causation are deficient. Furthermore, arguesBoA,
the Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) claims fail because the plaintiffs have not alleged any manipulation or

deception and because the alegations regarding reliance and scienter are deficient. Finally, BoA

58
1d. 11 846-47.
59
Id. 1 848.
60
Id.
61

BOA has submitted two motions: one by BoA Corp. and BANA, and oneby BASL. BASL
joinsin all of BoA Corp. and BANA's arguments and moves to dismiss on the additional
ground of lack of personal jurisdiction. Because the Court concludes below that the
complaint fails to state any claim against BoA, it does not reach the personal jurisdiction
defense. Thedistinction between the mations therefore isimmaterial .
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contends that the plaintiffs fail to state claims for controlling person liability under Section 20(a).

C. Banca Nazionale del Lavoro

1. Factual Allegations®

The core alegation against Banca Nazionale del Lavoro S.p.A. (“BNL”) isthat its

factoring arm and 99.6 percent-owned subsidiary, Ifitalia S.p.A. (“Ifitalia’), along with other

institutions, repeatedly paid Parmala cash in exchange for assignment of invoices that both parties

knew were bad.®® Although the complaint is not completely clear, it implies that Parmalat booked

62

63

BNL argues that “[p]laintiffs effortsto tie BNL to any allegedly fraudulent activity are
based upon misleading assertions regarding the content of the Chiaruttini report referred
to in the complaint” and asks the Court to consider sections of the report that BNL
submitted. BNL Mem. 2-3 & n.1, 6-7; Ellins Decl. Ex. B.

The Chiaruttini report — a document commissioned by the public prosecutor in Milan —
playsonly asmdl rolein therelevant sections of the complant. Theplaintiffsmerely assert
that Chiaruttini (a) highlighted one specific factoring transaction, and (b) concluded that
BNL “knew of and directly participated in the scheme.” Cpt. 11 304-05. (Paragraph 306 of
the complaint says that a participant in the alleged scheme “provided support for
Chiaruttini’s conclusions’ and then quotes from testimony given by the participant in an
unspecified proceeding. This paragraph, however, does not quote from the report or
otherwiserely onit for itsassertions.) Assertion (a) isnot important becauseit refersto only
one transaction, whereas the other paragraphs allege repeated payment for assignment of
stale invoices. Assertion (b) likewise is trivial because it asserts merely that BNL’s
knowledge stemmed from certain agpects of the fraud alleged in other paragraphs. The
complaint, moreover, contains other allegations regarding scienter.

The Court may consider documents not incorporated by reference into a complaint on a
motionto dismissif “thecomplaint‘ reliesheavily upon [the document’ s] termsand effect,’

which renders the document ‘integral’ tothe complaint.” Chambers v. Time Warner, Inc.,
282 F.3d 147, 153 (2d Cir. 2002) (citation omitted); accord Sira v. Morton, 380 F.3d 57,
67 (2d Cir. 2004). Unlike the press releases quoted above, see footnotes 31 and 48, the
contents of the Chiaruttini report do not meet this standard with respect to the all egations
against BNL and thereforedo not affect the Court’ s assumption for present purposes of the
truth of the allegations against BNL.

Cpt. 11 21, 295.
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the cash as an asst.

Thiswas quite misleading. In anormal factoring transaction, one party purchases, at
adiscount, receivables from the party that issued them and then attemptsto collect the face amount
of the invoices. Here, however, Parmalat had guaranteed to BNL or Ifitalia,* and the other banks,
payment of thefull face value of the invoices.”® Moreover, Parmadat invariably made good on that
guarantee, at least while the arrangement was in place.®® The receivables thus played no economic
role in the transaction; they were simply a device or excuse that permitted Parmalat to record the
revenue and to conceal theliability on the guarantees. The complaint suggests, in other words, that
the scheme in substance involved |loansby BNL to Parmalat rather than factoring of receivables.

The complaint allegesthat Parmalat used old invoicesfor this arrangement and that
each time payment on theinvoices came due, Parmalat would pay BNL and the other banks the full
amount for the previous set. The complaint suggests that, at the same time, Parmalat would assign
to the banks, in exchange for another payment, a new set of invoices that were the same as the
previous ones except that a single digit on each one had been changed to avoid detection and
exclusion by BNL’s computers.”’” If Parmalat’s payment to the banks of the full amount on the

previous set of invoices occurred at thesametime asthe banks' payment to Parmalat for assignment

64

The allegations do not distinguish clearly between BNL and Ifitalia See Cpt. 11 295-308,
865-71. The Court therefore refers collectively to both entities as BNL for purposes of
describing the allegations.

65

1d. 11 304, 307-08.
66

1d. 11 299, 305, 866.
67

1d. 11 21, 303, 305-07.
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of the next set — a point on which the complaint is not entirely clear — then presumably the two
payments would have been offset such that Parmalat in effect paid interest on aloan.

This arrangement began in December 1999 and was renewed every sx months. It
alegedly resulted in Parmala overstating its assets and receivables and understating its debt by
€103 million each year during the Class Period.?®

BNL allegedly benefitted by receiving returnsfrom thisschemethat were“far greater
than returns earned in typical factoring transactions’ and from bearing Parmalat’ s credit risk rather
than that of third parties owing payment on invoices. Furthermore, BNL was co-managing
underwriter for two large bond offerings by Parmala during the Class Period. The profits from the
factoring scheme and the underwriting fees were the alleged “ payoffs’ for BNL’s participation in
the fraud.*®

The plaintiffs allege that BNL had “intimate knowledge of the fraud” because BNL
and Parmal at shared two directors, one of whomwasthe president of Ifitalia.” Furthermore, “BNL’s
knowledge of the fraud was dso apparent in its acceptance of numerous invoices which were
identical except for a change in one digit — a change made so that the invoices would be accepted

by BNL’s processing software which was designed to identify fraud.””* The complaint alleges that

68

1d. 11 298, 309, 870.
69

Id. 11 308, 867, 871.
70

1d. 111 302, 868.

71

1d. 9 869:; accord id. q 302.
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Ifitalia acted as BNL's agent in the scheme.™

2. Causes of Action, Grounds for Motion to Dismiss

The complaint asserts two causes of action against BNL, one for violation of Rule
10b-5(a) and (c) and the other under Section 20(a) for asserted violations of Section 10(b) and Rule
10b-5 by Ifitalia. BNL movesto dismiss on the grounds that the Court does not have subject matter
jurisdiction, BNL is not a primary violator, the alegations of scienter and causation are deficient,

and the plaintiffs fail to state a claim for controlling person responsibility under Section 20(a).

D. Credit Suisse First Boston

1. Factual Allegations

Thecore allegation against Credit Suisse First Boston (“ CSFB”)" isthat it designed
and participated in a set of transactionsin late 2001 and January 2002 that CSFB knew Parmalat
would useto conceal debt onitsfinancial statements.™

In particular, CSFB executed a subscription agreement with Parmalat pursuant to
which CSFB paid almost €500 million to Parmalat Participacdes do Brasile (“Parmalat Brasile”)

for theentirety of a€€500 millionissue of Parmalat Brasile bonds underwritten by CSFB. Thebonds

72
Id. 1 865.
73

CSFB isawholly-owned subsidiary of Credit Suisse Group. CSFB R. 7.1 St., docket item
208. The complaint occasonally mentions affiliates of CSFB and at one point refers to
Credit Suisse First Boston Corp., Cpt. 11163, an entity tha, according to CSFB, nolonger
exists. CSFB Mem. 1 n.1. Itisnot necessary to distinguish among these entities at thisstage
of the litigation. See In re Salomon Analyst AT&T Litig., 350 F. Supp.2d 455, 459 n.1
(S.D.N.Y. 2004). The Court therefore refers to dl of them as CSFB.

74
See Cpt. 1 406.
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were convertible into equity and had an expiration date of 2008. At the same time, Parmalat and
CSFB executed an agreement pursuant to which CSFB transferred back to Parmalat the right of
conversion, which was priced at €248.3 million (the “ Forward Sale Agreement”). Parmal at raised
the funds to pay CSFB under the agreement through a separate €250 million bond issue (the
“Eurobond Issue”) underwritten by CSFB jointly with two other institutions. The Eurobond Issue
produced €246.5 million (€250 million less costs and commissions), which was deposited in a
CSFB checking account.”™

Parmalat then recorded both (@) the“right” it had purchased from CSFB to convert
the Parmalat Brasile bonds, and (b) the proceeds of the Parmalat Brasile bond issue as assets each
worth approxi mately €250 million.” This accounting treatment was improper. The net result of
thesetransactions, accordingto the complaint, wasthat Parmal at obtai ned €500 millioninfinancing
—+€250 million each from the Parmalat Brasile bonds and the Eurobond I ssue —and “ manufactured
€248 million in assets . . . and concealed €248 million of debt.” "’

Thecomplaint allegesthat CSFB received millionsof dollarsin commissionsand fees
fromthesetransactions. Furthermore, fifty percent of therisk from underwriting the Parmal at Brasile
bond issue was transferred back to Parmalat under the Forward Sale Agreement. CSFB transferred

the remaining risk to the market by selling the Parmalat Brasile bonds or by executing credit default

75
1d. 11 406-13, 415.
76
1d. 1 415.
77

1d. 11416, 859, 863.

Theallegationsregarding Parmal at’ saccounting treatment for these transacti onsaremurky.
The Court has atempted to infer a coherent account.



21

swap agreements.”® The complaint alleges as well that as a reward for designing and participating
inthe scheme, CSFB received lucrative underwriting rolesfor at | east three debt offeringsduring the

Class Period.”™

2. Cause of Action, Grounds for Motion to Dismiss

The complaint includes one cause of action against CSFB for violation of Rule 10b-
5(a) and (c). CSFB moves to dismiss on the grounds that the plaintiffs have failed to allegethat it
isaprimary violator, the complaint does not adequately dlege scienter, and the Court lacks subject

matter jurisdiction over the allegations against it.

II. 12(b)(6) Motions to Dismiss
In deciding aRule 12(b)(6) motion, the Court acceptsastrueall well-pleaded factual
allegationsin the complaint and draws dl reasonable inferencesin the plaintiffs favor.® Dismissal
isinappropriate“unlessit appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of factsin support

of hisclaim which would entitle him to relief.”®
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Id. 99 417-18.
79

Id. 1 863.
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E.g., Flores v. Southern Peru Copper Corp., 343 F.3d 140, 143 (2d Cir. 2003); Levy v.
Southbrook Int’l Invs., Ltd., 263 F.3d 10, 14 (2d Cir. 2001).

81

Cohenv. Koenig, 25 F.3d 1168, 1172 (2d Cir. 1994) (quoting Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S.
41, 45-46 (1957) (internd quotation marks omitted)).
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III. Pleading a Violation of Rule 10b-5

Section 10(b) makesit unlawful “for any person, directly or indirectly . . . [tjo useor
empl oy, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security . . ., any manipulative or deceptive
device or contrivance in contravention of such rules and regulations as the Commission may
prescribe as necessary or appropriatein the public interest or for the protection of investors.”® Rule
10b-5in turn provides:

“It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any means

or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of the mails or of any facility of any

national securities exchange,

“(@ Toemploy any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud,

“(b) Tomakeany untruestatement of amaterial fact or to omit to state amaterial

fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in thelight of the circumstances

under which they were made, not misleading, or

“(c) Toengageinany act, practice, or course of businesswhich operatesor would
operate as afraud or deceit upon any person,

“in connection with the purchase or sale of any security.”®
A. Scienter

Most claimsunder Rule 10b-5 allege misrepresentations or omissionsin violation of
Rulel0b-5(b). The elements of such claims are different from those based on alleged violations of
subsections (a) and (c). Both types of claims, however, are subject to pleading requirements
regarding scienter. Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act (“PSLRA”™), the complaint

must “ state with particularity facts giving riseto astrong inference that the defendant acted with the

82
15 U.S.C. § 78j(h).
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17 CF.R. § 240.10b-5.
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required state of mind.”® The required state of mind is “an intent to deceive, manipulate, or
defraud.”® A plaintiff may establish thisintent “ either (a) by alleging factsto show that defendants
had both motive and opportunity to commit fraud, or (b) by aleging facts that constitute strong

circumstantial evidence of conscious misbehavior or recklessness.”®

B. Rule 10b-5(b): Misrepresentations and Omissions

To state a daim based on a misrepresentation or omission in violation of Rule
10b-5(b), plaintiffs must allege that a defendant “ (1) made misstatements or omissions of material
fact; (2) with scienter; (3) in connection with the purchase or sale of securities; (4) upon which
plaintiffs relied; and (5) that plaintiffs reliance was the proximate cause of their injury.”®

The allegations in support of such a claim must meet the requirements of Rule 9(b)
and the PSLRA. Rule 9(b) requires that the circumstances constituting fraud be stated with
particul arity, which means that the complaint must “(1) specify the statements that the plaintiff

contends were fraudulent, (2) identify the speaker, (3) state where and when the statements were

84
15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2).

85
Ganino v. Citizens Utilities Co., 228 F.3d 154, 168 (2d Cir. 2000) (quoting Ernst & Ernst

v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 193 n.12 (1976) (internal quotation marks omitted)); accord
Kalnit v. Eichler, 264 F.3d 131, 138 (2d Cir. 2001).

86

Kalnit, 264 F.3d at 138 (quoting Acito v. IMCERA Group, Inc., 47 F.3d 47, 52 (2d
Cir.1995) (internd quotation marks omitted)); accord Rombach v. Chang, 355 F.3d 164,
176 (2d Cir. 2004).

87

Lentell v. Merrill Lynch & Co., 396 F.3d 161, 172 (2d Cir. 2005) (quoting In re IBM Corp.
Sec. Litig., 163 F.3d 102, 106 (2d Cir.1998) (internal quotation marks omitted)), pet 'n for
cert. filed, 73 U.S.L.W. 3632 (Apr. 11, 2005) (No. 04-1371); accord Ganino, 228 F.3d at
161.
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made, and (4) explain why the statements were fraudulent.”®® The PSLRA is to similar effect,
providing that for each allegation of a misrepresentation or misleading omission:

“the complaint shall specify each statement alleged to have been misleading, the
reason or reasonswhy the statement ismisleading, and, if an allegation regarding the
statement or omission is made on information and belief, the complaint shall state
with particularity all facts on which that belief isformed.”®
C. Rule 10b-5(a) and (c): Deceptive and Manipulative Acts and Devices
To state a claim based on conduct that violates Rule 10b-5(a) and (c), the plaintiff
must allege that a defendant (1) committed a deceptive or manipulative act, (2) with scienter, that
(3) the act affected the market for securities or was otherwise in connection with their purchase or
sale, and that (4) defendants’ actions caused the plaintiffs’ injuries.® Certain of these elementswill
be elaborated on below.

BoA and Citigroup suggest that subsections (a) and (c) apply only to the narrow

category of acts understood as “manipulative’ in atechnical sense™ Thisinterpretation is refuted

88

Novakv. Kasaks, 216 F.3d 300, 306 (2d Cir. 2000) (quoting Shields v. Citytrust Bancorp,
Inc., 25 F.3d 1124, 1128 (2d Cir.1994) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted));
accord In re Scholastic Corp. Sec. Litig., 252 F.3d 63, 69-70 (2d Cir. 2001).
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15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(1).
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See Parmalat I, 2005 WL 1527674, a *2; In re Global Crossing, Ltd. Sec. Litig., 322 F.
Supp.2d 319, 329 (S.D.N.Y. 2004) (quoting In re Initial Public Offering Sec. Litig., 241
F. Supp.2d 281, 385 (S.D.N.Y. 2003) (citing In re Blech Sec. Litig., 961 F. Supp. 569, 582
(S.D.N.Y. 1997))); In re Sterling Foster & Co. Sec. Litig., 222 F. Supp.2d 289, 303-04
(E.D.N.Y. 2002); Connolly v. Havens, 763 F. Supp. 6, 10 (S.D.N.Y. 1991); see also SEC
v. Zandford, 535 U.S. 813, 821-25 (2002); SEC v. First Jersey Sec., Inc., 101 F.3d 1450,
1467 (2d Cir. 1996); Royal American Managers, Inc. v. IRC Holding Corp., 885F.2d 1011,
1015 (2d Cir. 1989).

91

BoA Mem. 22-23; BoA Reply Mem. 3-4; Citigroup Mem. 13-14.
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by the language of the rule as well as the case law, which make it clear that subsections (a) and (c)
apply to at least some deceptive acts as much asto certain technical forms of market manipulation.®
Indeed, the broad purpose of Section 10(b) isto “prevent practices that impair the function of stock
markets in enabling people to buy and sell securities at prices that reflect undistorted (though not
necessarily accurate) estimates of the underlying economic value of the securities traded.”*

ThePSLRA’ spleading requirementsregarding misl eading statementsand omissions
do not apply to claimsthat allege no misrepresentation or omission but instead are based on alleged
violations of Rule 10b-5(a) and (c). These clams, however, sound in fraud and therefore come
within Rule 9(b), the policies of which are “to provide a defendant with fair notice of aplaintiff’s
claim, to safeguard adefendant’ sreputation from improvident charges of wrongdoing, and to protect
adefendant against the institution of a strike suit.”*

A plaintiff alleging market manipulation in violation of Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) must

specify “what manipulative acts were performed, which defendants performed them, when the

92

See, e.g., Global Crossing, 322 F. Supp.2d at 336-37 (“ [ S]ubsections(a) and (c) encompass
much more than illegal trading activity: they encompass the use of ‘any device, scheme or
artifice,” or ‘any act, practice, or course of business' used to perpetrate afraud on investors
.... [Clourtsincluding this country’s highest court have held that a cause of action liesfor
claimsthat involve all egations of manipulative schemes used in connection with securities
markets.”); see also section IV.C below.
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Id. at 337 (quoting Sullivan & Long, Inc. v. Scattered Corp., 47 F.3d 857, 861 (7th Cir.
1995) (Posner, C.J.)).

94

Shields v. Citytrust Bancorp, Inc., 25 F.3d 1124, 1128 (2d Cir. 1994) (quoting O Brien v.
Nat’l Property Analysts Partners, 936 F.2d 674, 676 (2d Cir. 1991) (internal quotation
marks omitted)).
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manipulative acts were performed and what effect the scheme had on the securities at issue.”* The
plaintiffs here do not allege classic market manipulation, but they do seek to hold the defendant
banks liable for deceptive conduct without a specific misrepresentation or omission. The Court
therefore concludesthat the appropriatelevel of particularity for the 10b-5(a) and (¢) claimsasserted
here is that the plaintiffs must specify what deceptive or manipulative acts were performed, which
defendants performed them, when the acts were performed, and what effect the scheme had on

investors in the securities at issue.

1V. Primary Liability Versus Liability for Aiding and Abetting

Many of the banks arguments are based on the Supreme Court’ sholding in Central
Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A.,* that thereisno privatecivil liability
for aiding and abetting aviolation of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5. Thebanksarguethat they merely
structured or participated in transactions that Parmalat misdescribed, that they did not make any
mi srepresentations, and that they therefore at worst wereaiders and abettorsof Parmalat’ sfraud and
thus not subject to private civil liability. The plaintiffs counter that the banksare liable as primary
violators, not aiders and abettors.

As an initial matter, it is essential to remember something that the law and

commentary following Central Bank sometimes overlooks, and that is the definition of aiding and

95

Global Crossing, 322 F. Supp.2d at 329 (quoting /n re Blech Sec. Litig., 961 F. Supp. 569,
580 (S.D.N.Y. 1997)); accord In re Natural Gas Commodity Litig., 358 F. Supp.2d 336,
343 (S.D.N.Y. 2005); Endovasc Ltd. v. J.P. Turner & Co., No. 02 Civ. 7313 (LAP), 2004
WL 634171, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. 2004); SEC v. U.S. Envtl., Inc., 82 F. Supp.2d 237, 240
(S.D.N.Y. 2000).
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511 U.S. 164 (1994).
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abetting. Prior to Central Bank, liability for aiding and abetting, following the criminal practice,
required proof of three elements. Inthe Second Circuit’ sformulation, they were: “ (1) asecurities|aw
violation by aprimarywrongdoer, (2) knowledge of the violation by the person sought to be charged,
and (3) . . . that the person sought to be charged substantially assisted in the primary wrongdoing.”*’
Thus, an aider and abettor is nothing more nor less than someone who deliberately facilitates
another’ sprimary violation. Central Bank foreclosed liability for aiding and abetting the Rule 10b-5
violations of others, but the decision did not change the scope of Rule 10b-5 or what constitutes a
primary violation of it.

The basic question here thusis not whether the banks' actions made them aidersand
abettors — even if they were, it would be immaterid — but rather whether the banks are subject to
privatecivil liability as primary violators of Rule 10b-5. In order to answer that question, the Court
finds it helpful to review Central Bank and the law before and since regarding the extent of Rule

10b-5 civil liability for financid ingitutions that take part in deceptive activity.

A. Rule 10b-5 Liability for Outside Financial Institutions Prior to Central Bank
Section 10(b) was enacted as part of an effort “*to insure honest securities markets

and thereby promote investor confidence’ after the market crash of 1929. Moregenerally, Congress

97

Armstrong v. McAlpin, 699 F.2d 79, 91 (2d Cir. 1983); accord Ross v. Bolton, 904 F.2d
819, 824 (2d Cir. 1990); IIT v. Cornfeld, 619 F.2d 909, 922 (2d Cir.1980); Rolf v. Blyth,
Eastman Dillon & Co., 570 F.2d 38, 47-48 (2d Cir. 1978).

Other circuitsadopted similar theories. See, e.g., Alan R. Bromberg & LewisD. Lowenfels,
Aiding and Abetting Securities Fraud: A Critical Examination, 52 ALB. L. Rev. 637, 662
(1988); Sally Totten Gilmore& WilliamH. McBride, Liability of Financial Institutions for
Aiding and Abetting Violations of Securities Laws, 42 WAsH & LEe L. Rev. 811, 819 &
n.52 (1985).
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sought * to substitute a philosophy of full disclosure for the philosophy of caveat emptor and thusto

achieve a high standard of business ethicsin the securitiesindustry.’”*® In Judge Friendly’s words:

“[t]he purpose of § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 is to protect persons who are deceived in securities

transactions-to make sure that buyers of securities get what they think they are getting . . . "%

As is well-known, the implied private right of action under Rule 10b-5 was

recognized in the lower courts as early as 1946'® and acknowledged by the Supreme Court in

1971.*" Privatecivil liability for aiding and abetting aviol ation of Rule 10b-5wasrecognized inthe

1960s'*? and eventually became a common feature of Section 10(b) private damages actions.'*
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SEC v. Zandford, 535 U.S. 813, 819 (2002) (quoting United States v. O ’Hagan, 521 U.S.
642, 658 (1997) and Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v. United States, 406 U.S. 128, 151
(1972)) (citations and someinternal quotation marks omitted).

Chemical Bank v. Arthur Andersen & Co., 726 F.2d 930, 943 (2d Cir. 1984).

See Kardon v. Nat’l Gypsum Co., 69 F. Supp. 512, 513-14 (E.D. Pa. 1946).

See Superintendent of Ins. v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co., 404 U.S. 6, 13 n.9 (1971).

See Brennan v. Midwestern United Life Ins. Co., 259 F. Supp. 673, 680-81 (N.D. Ind. 1966),
aff’d, 417 F.2d 147, 154 (7th Cir. 1969); Pettit v. American Stock Exchange, 217 F. Supp.
21, 28 (S.D.N.Y. 1963) (financial institutions accused of aiding and abetting a conspiracy
directed at the fraudulent issue of stock by permitting exchange specialists to maintain
dummy accounts and assisting the sale and ddlivery of unregistered stock).

See, e.g., Bromberg & Lowenfels, supra, at 771 & n.813; Daniel R. Fischel, Secondary
Liability Under Section 10(b) of the Securities Act of 1934, 69 CaL. L. Rev. 80, 81-82
(1981).
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1. Confusion Between Primary and Aiding and Abetting Liability

Courts, however, did not always distinguish clearly between primary violations of

Section 10(b) and aiding and abetting by lawyers, accountants, and bankers of such violations.*** In

Buttrey v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc.,"® for example, atrustee in bankruptcy of a

broker-dealer alleged that the firm had misappropriated its customers funds and used them to

speculate in large stock transactions for the firm’'s own account with defendant Merrill Lynch.

Merrill Lynchwasor should have been aware of the misconduct, but nonethel essenabled it.'® It was

charged both as an aider and abettor and as a primary violator of Rule 10b-5. The Seventh Circuit

denied summary judgment on both counts, observing in rel ation to the charge of aprimary violation:

“Itiswell settled that parties may be liablefor violations of the[1934] Act and Rule
10b-5 aslong as they engage in fraudulent activity ‘in connection with’ the sale or
purchase of securities or in afraudulent ‘course of business.” . . . [The complaint]
sufficiently allegesthat defendant benefitted by a course of business which operated

as afraud upon the bankrupt’ s customers to entitle those customers. . . to recover .
17107

104

105

106

107

See Bromberg & Lowenfels, supra, at 640 (“The dividing line between primary violation
and aiding-abetting violation, however, is indistinct and, in the minds of some courts,
virtually nonexistent. It iscommon for the same person to be sued both asaprimary viol ator
and as an aider-abettor. It is not uncommon for a person to be held liable in both
capacities.” (footnotesomitted)); Gilmore& McBride, supra, a 819-20(“ Thefirst element,
theunderlying violation, caused much confusion in the early aiding and abetting cases. The
courts often failed to distinguish primary from secondary violations and aso faled to
distinguish among the various forms of secondary liability.” (footnotesomitted)); Fischel,
supra, at 103 (“ Frequently the line between primary and secondary liability isblurred . . .

).

410 F.2d 135 (7th Cir. 1969).

1d. at 136-37, 141.

1d. at 144.
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Thus, conduct by afinancial institution that appears to have amounted only to aiding and abetting
wasregarded as sufficient for primary liability.

Other courts have sustained aiding and abetting clams against financial institutions
in circumstances in which the institutions appear to have been primary violators and the courtsin
essenceunderstood them as such. For example, inRolfv. Blyth, Eastman Dillon & Co.,* the Second
Circuit agreed that a broker trusted by the plaintiff could be liable for aiding and abetting the
broker’s colleague, an aggressive money manager, in the latter’s management of the plaintiff’s
discretionary brokerage account. Thedistrict court had found the management to be “fraudulent in
nature.”'® Thefactsand the Circuit’ slanguage, however, suggest that the broker just aseasily could
have been liable asaprimary violator. According to the Second Circuit, the district court had found
that the trusted broker had a* practice of continually voicing his confidencein [the money manager]
and in [the money manager’s] investment decisions.” This practice, the district court found,
“constituted afraud upon [the plaintiff], who sincerely bdieved that [the broker] had somebasisfor
his statements.”*'° Moreover, the Second Circuit repeatedly observed that the broker “participated
in and |lent assistance to the fraud upon [the plaintiff].”*** The phrase“ participatedin . . . thefraud,”

like the court’ s recounting of the broker’s specific misrepresentations, suggests the commission of

108
570 F.2d 38 (2d Cir. 1978).
109
Id. at 43.
110
1d.
111

Id. at 44 (emphasis added); accord id. at 41, 43,49 & n.21.
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aprimary violation in addition to the facilitation of the manager’s violations.*'?

A comparable caseis Carroll v. First National Bank of Lincolnwood,"® inwhich the
plaintiff securities dealers alleged that the defendant bank was a“main participant” in a schemeto
defraud the plaintiffs. The scheme entailed inducing the plaintiffs to finance the purchase of large
amountsof securitiesfor which theparticipantsin the scheme deliberatel y delayed payment in order
to profit from manipulated prices. The complaint alleged that the defendant bank held settlement
drafts without payment for as long as possible and that the bank, when questioned about non-
payment, stalled and gave false and misleading assurances that payment would be forthcoming.
Furthermore, the bank arranged for persons other than the plaintiffs’ designated customers to
purchasethose cusomers’ securitiesin order to conceal from the plaintiffsthe participants inability
to make good on their purchase orders.*** The bank was charged as an aider and abettor. The
allegaions, however, suggest primary violations, and the Seventh Circuit’ s analysis appear to have
considered only liability as a primary violator.*

Thislack of precisionindealingwith primary violationsas compared withaiding and

112

Indeed, the dissenting judge appearsto have assumed that “ participation” in afraud means
something other than simply aiding and abetting it: “the majority errsin concluding that
[the broker’ s] conduct, principally his assurances regarding [the manager’s] competency

as investment counsel . . . establishes recklessness equivalent to an intentional and
deliberate participation in or aiding and abetting of such ‘fraud.”” Id. at 51 (emphads
added).

113
413 F.2d 353 (7th Cir. 1969).
114
1d. at 355-56.
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See id. at 356-58.
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abetting liability of course is understandable. Prior to Central Bank, both theories were available,

and rigorous distinction between them seldom if ever mattered.

2. Aiding and Abetting Liability for Lenders that Facilitate Fraud

In the pre-Central Bank era, anumber of cases examined allegations similar to the
present ones in that banks or other entities were said to have financed transactions that the banks
knew would result in fraud. H.L. Federman & Co. v. Greenberg,**® for example, was a derivative
suit by ashareholder of autility company against, anong others, Tokyo Boeki, a corporation that
financed a complicated set of transactions pursuant to which (1) adirector of the utility effectively
purchased its subsidiary, United Steel and Strip Corp. (“United”), and (2) the utility relinquished an
option to acquire adifferent corporation. The plaintiff chalenged the proxy statement in which the
utility asked the shareholders to approve certain of the transactions, alleging, among other things,
that the statement misleadingly described Tokyo Boeki as a commercial lender and the financing
arrangement as a loan, when in fact Tokyo Boeki was a subsidiary of another steel company that
supplied United, and it had purchased an option to acquire United’ s stock. The plaintiff dleged that
Tokyo Boeki was aware of the contents of the proxy statement aswell asthe nature and effect of the
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transactions. The court sustained the Rule 10b-5 aiding and abetting claim against Tokyo Boeki.
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A similar fact pattern was at issue in Tucker v. Janota,® which denied a summary
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judgment motion by banks that were alleged to have aided and abetted securities |aw violations by
extending unsecured loans to physicians as part of a standing arrangement with afirm that sold tax
shelters. The banks allegedly knew that the firm was violating the securities statutes and that the
physicians would use their loans to invest with the firm.**°

Other decisions upheld aiding and abetting claimswhere bankswere aleged to have
propped up issuers, knowing that they would defraud less favorably situated creditors. In Monsen
v. Consolidated Dressed Beef Co.,"® the Third Circuit sustained ajury verdict holding abank liable
for aiding and abetting a fraud committed by the defendant beef company on the holders of its
unregistered notes, who for the most part were the company’s employees and their family, and
friends of the family that owned the company. The bank lent the company money and became a
secured creditor. The note holders' debt was subordinated to that of the bank, as the bank had
demanded. At the bank’ s instigation, the company continued borrowing from its employees, even
though, as the bank knew, they were ignorant of their junior status. When the company collapsed,
the bank seized control of its assets, liquidated them, and applied all of the proceeds to the
company’s debt to the bank.**

A similar case is Metge v. Baehler,"* in which the Eighth Circuit denied summary

judgment dismissing an aiding and abetting claim against a bank that was alleged to have propped
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1997 WL 1128, at *1, *8.
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up atroubled real estate company with knowledge that the continued financing was disadvantaging
holders of the company’ s unsecured promissory notes.'?

These decisions all sustained aiding and abetting liability, but in none of these cases
did the bankscommit deceptive acts. The financiers allegedly knew that their counterpartieswould
defraud others, and they assisted or even encouraged their counterparties in connection with those
frauds, but there was nothing inherently dishonest about their acts. The deception stemmed entirely
from the actions of the borrowers.

3. Most Cases Did Not Focus on the Distinction Among the Subsections of Rule

10b-5

It isimportant to bear in mind that the vast majority of Rule 10b-5 cases hastargeted

false or misleading statements — in other words, conduct prohibited by subsection (b) of the Rule.

Inthe pre-Central Bank era, subsections (a) and (¢), if they werereferred to at al, usually were used

to target certain forms of manipulative trading activity.*** The cases did not focus on the reach of
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Id. at 623, 625-30.
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E.g., Armstrong v. McAlpin, 699 F.2d 79, 91 (2d Cir. 1983) (“Churning, in and of itsdf,
may be adeceptive and manipul ative device under section 10(b)”); Newburger, Loeb & Co.
v. Gross, 563 F.2d 1057, 1069 (2d Cir. 1977) (same); Schoenbaum v. Firstbrook, 405 F.2d
215, 219-20 (2d Cir. 1968) (en banc) (controlling shareholder dleged to have used
influence over corporation and insider information to acquire additional shares of the
corporation at grossly inadequate prices; court held that “[i]f it is established that the
transaction took place as dleged it constituted aviolation of Rule 10b-5, subdivison (3)
because [the controlling shareholder] engaged in an ‘act, practice or course of business
which operates or would operate as afraud or deceit upon any person, in connection with
the purchase or sale of any security.’”); see also Santa Fe Indus., Inc. v. Green, 430 U.S.
462, 476 (1977) (“*Manipulation’ is‘virtually aterm of art when used in connection with
securitiesmarkets.’ . . . Theterm refers generally to practices, such aswash sales, matched
orders, or rigged prices, that are intended to mislead investors by artificidly affecting
market activity.” (quoting Ernst & Ernstv. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185,199 (1976))); Carroll
v. First Nat’l Bank of Lincolnwood, 413 F.2d 353 (7th Cir. 1969).
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“deceptive device or contrivance” (the Section 10(b) language) or, for that matter, the Rule 10b-5
language of “employ[ing] any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud” or “engag[ing] in any act,
practice, or course of business which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any
person.”

Presumably one reason for this is that the essence of fraud or deceit, at least at
common law, is amisrepresentation that induces detrimental reliance.® Thistheory of recovery is
familiar, and it therefore was not controversial to base private damages actions for Rule 10b-5
violations on this pattern. Moreover, any deceptive device or practice, other than one involving
manipulative trading activity, logicaly requires that somebody misrepresent or omit something at
some point, even though the device could entail more than the misrepresentation. Asit waswiddy
agreedthat Rule 10b-5 prohi bited mi srepresentations and omi ssions, and aidingand abetting liability
also was uncontroversial, the path of least resistance for a plaintiff suing based on a deceptive
arrangement with multiple actors was to allege that one actor had misrepresented or omitted a
material fact and that the other actors had aided and abetted that fraud.

In other words, for decades the distinction between the conduct covered by
subsections (a) and (c) on the one hand, and subsection (b) on the other waslargely insignificant. A
corollary is that courts for the most part found it unnecessary to consider the extent to which the
phrase* manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance” in Section 10(b) applied to conduct other

than misrepresentations, omissions, and market manipulation. It no longer is possible, however, to
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ignore these issues.'*

B. The Central Bank Decision

Therelevant claimin Central Bank wasthat Central Bank of Denver, N.A. (* Central
Bank”), which served asindenturetrustee for apair of municipal bond issues, had aided and abetted
violations of Section 10(b) by the devel oper and the underwriter of the bond issues. The bondswere
issued in 1986 and 1988 to finance improvements at a residential and commercial development.
They were secured by liensonland that applicable covenantsrequired tobeworthat al timesat |east
160 percent of the outstanding principal and interest. The deve oper was required to furnish to the
indenture trustee an annual report evidencing that the collateral met the 160 percent threshold.

In early 1988, the senior underwriter for the 1986 bond issue warned Central Bank
that local real estate values were dedining, that the developer’s 1988 appraisal did not reflect the
actual situation, and that it was possible that the 160 percent condition was being violated. Central
Bank’ s in-house appraiser reviewed the developer’s appraisal, found that it was overly optimistic,
and suggested retaining an outside appraiser to conduct an independent review of it. After an
exchange of |etters with the devel oper, however, Central Bank agreed to delay independent review
until after the closing of the 1988 bond issue. Themunicipal building authority defaulted before the

independent review was finished.*’
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See, e.g., Peter M. Saparoff & Breton Leone-Quick, The Future of Secondary Actor
Liability Under Section 10(b), 29th Annual Advanced ALI-ABA Courseof Study (May 13-
14,2004), available on Westlaw as SJ084 ALI-ABA 723 (“ The battle over secondary actor
liahility, first addressed in Central Bank, has shaped and will continue to shape the extent
of primary liability under Section 10(b).").
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The Tenth Circuit overturned the district court’s grant of summary judgment to
Central Bank, reasoningthat atrier of fact could find that Central Bank was reckless — recklessness
being sufficientinthe Tenth Circuit’ sview to support liability for aiding and abetting a Section 10(b)
violation — based on its knowledge of the inaccuracy of the 1988 gppraisd, and that it substantially
assisted primary violations of Section 10(b) by delaying the independent review.'?® Both sides
assumed the viability of an aiding and abetting theory of liability. Central Bank petitioned for
certiorari on the questions whether it could be liable for aiding and abetting (1) absent a breach of
the indenture agreement or other duty, and (2) based only on a showing of recklessness.'® The
Supreme Court granted certiorari on the second question and, on its own initiative, directed the
partiesto brief and arguethe question “[w]hether thereisanimplied privateright of actionfor aiding
and abetting violations of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and SEC Rule 10b-
5,130

The Court held that there is no such right of action. The decison was based almost
exclusively on the language of Section 10(b), which does not reach those who aid and abet a
violation of the section by another.’** The Court observed: “With respect . . . to . . . the scope of

conduct prohibited by 8§ 10(b), the text of the statute controls our decision. . . . We have refused to
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Id. at 194 (Stevens, J., dissenting).
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Central Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A.,508 U.S. 959 (1993)
(grant of certiorari); see also 511 U.S. at 194-95.
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The Court supported its holding with dicta concluding that the 1934 Congress did not
intend an aiding and abetting cause of action. See 511 U.S. at 178-85.
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alow 10b-5 challenges to conduct not prohibited by the text of the statute.” *
As discussed above, however, the decision did not affect the contours of a primary
violation of Section 10(b). The plaintiffsin Central Bank conceded that the indenture trustee “did
not commit a manipulative or deceptive act within the meaning of § 10(b),”** but there is nothing
inthe decisionto suggest that Central Bank would have escaped liability if it had been found to have
committed such an act. On the contrary, the Court not only reaffirmed that the text of Section 10(b)
delimits the universe of such acts, it pointed out aswell that:
“[t]he absence of § 10(b) aiding and abetting liability does not mean that secondary
actors in the securities markets are aways free from liability under the securities
Acts. Any person or entity, including alawyer, accountant, or bank, who employs a
manipulative device or makes a material misstatement (or omission) on which a

purchaser or seller of securitiesrelies may beliableasaprimary violator under 10b-
5, assuming a/! of therequirementsfor primary liability under Rule 10b-5 aremet.” ***

C. Liability for Outside Financial Institutions After Central Bank
The Second Circuit has applied Central Bank to establish a “bright line” test for
determining whether a defendant is liable for an alleged misstatement or omission:

“‘[A] defendant must actually make a false or misleading statement in order to be
held liable under Section 10(b). Anything short of such conduct ismerely aiding and
abetting, and no matter how substantial that aid may be, it is not enough to trigger
liability under Section 10(b).” . . . [A] secondary actor cannot incur primary liability
under the Act for a statement not attributed to that actor at the time of its
disseminaion. . . . [T]he misrepresentation must be attributed to that specific actor
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at the time of public dissemination . .. .”**
This attribution rule defines the contours of liability for violations of Rule 10b-5(b).

Far less clear is the precise reach of subsections (a) and (c) of the rule.*® Only two
Second Circuit cases after Central Bank touch on thisissue.

In the first, SEC v. First Jersey Securities, Inc.,**" a discount broker-dealer (“First
Jersey”) used fraudulent practices to induce customersto buy certain securities at excessive prices.
In particular, thefirm’ s sal espersons each wereinstructed to promote only onesecurity at atime, and
to do so emphatically. The sdesforcedid not know of, let alone disclose, any risksor other negative
factors associaed with the securities. The promoted securities typically were underwritten by First
Jersey and traded only in the over-the-counter market. First Jersey sold the securities in units that
consisted of several shares of common stock, among other items.*®

The firm later would urge its customers to sell the securities back to the firm at a
dight profit to the customers. First Jersey then would split the repurchased units into their
component parts and sell the componentsindividually to different customersat significantly higher

total pricesthan the firm had paid thefirst customer. The firm did not inform the selling customers
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Wright v. Ernst & Young LLP, 152 F.3d 169, 175 (2d Cir. 1998) (quoting Shapiro v.
Cantor, 123 F.3d 717, 720 (2d Cir.1997) (internal quotation marks omitted)).
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See, e.g., In re Lernout & Hauspie Sec. Litig., 236 F. Supp.2d 161, 170-71 (D. Mass. 2003)
(“while it is well-established that § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 cover fraudulent schemes, no
matter how novel, the Supreme Court has never addressed the extent to which 8§ 10(b) and
Rule 10b-5 proscribe participation in such schemes.”).
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that it was going to split the units and resell their components & much higher prices, nor did it
inform the buyers of the components that those components previoudy had sold for a much lower
price. The salesforce—and thereforethe clientele—waskept in the dark about virtually every aspect
of this scheme.™®

In these circumstances, there were up to three types of fraud at issue —fraud on the
initial customers when they bought, fraud on the same people when they sold the units back to First
Jersey, and fraud on the purchasers of the components of the units — but all are most readily
understood as frauds based on misstatements or omissions. Both the Second Circuit and the district
court so understood the case. On gppeal, the defendantsdid not chall engethedistrict court’ sfindings
that they had “faled to make discl osures of factsthat would have been important to their customers;
that their nondisclosures were intended to, and did, defraud their customers; and that these
intentional frauds were designed to facilitate the markups that they charged.”**° The Second Circuit
then held that the nondisclosures about the market for the securities was relevant to the question of
whether the markups were excessive.'*

Withthebenefit of hindsight, thefactsof First Jersey Securities might beunderstood
as an example of aschemein violation of subsections (a) and (c) of Rule 10b-5. In 1996, however,
those subsections were not as salient as they are now, and nowhere in the decision did the Second

Circuit specify which subsections were at issue.
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First Jersey Securities then addressed whether Robert E. Brennan, First Jersey’ ssole
owner and chief executive,"* was liable under Section 10(b). The Circuit concluded that he was
becausehe had planned, overseen, and orchestrated theentire program and therefore* had knowledge
of First Jersey’s frauds and participated in the fraudulent scheme.”**

The Second Circuit’s opinion concerning Brennan creates some uncertainty in the
context of this case. The discussion follows directly the Circuit’ s statement that “primary liability
may beimposed ‘ not only on personswho made fraudul ent mi srepresentations but al so on thosewho
had knowledge of the fraud and assisted in its participation.’”'** But the case cited for that
proposition was decided before Central Bank and did not distinguish between primary and aiding
and abetting liability. Indeed, the elements set forth in the earlier opinion and quoted in First Jersey
Securities — knowledge coupled with assistance — practically define ading and abetting, not a
primary violation. Moreover, First Jersey Securities was decided before the Second Circuit adopted
the bright line test for misstatements and omissions, which ruled out the possibility that a defendant
could be liable merely for “participating” in the misstatements or omissions of others without
attribution to that defendant. Thus, while First Jersey Securities Seems to say that participation in
a Rule 10b-5(b) violation, even by one to whom the misrepresentations or omissions are not
attributed, may ground primary liability, its reliance for that proposition on a pre-Central Bank

decision that may have rested on aiding and abetting leaves the matter somewhat unclear.

142
Id. at 1458.
143
Id. at 1471-72.
144

Id. a 1471 (quoting Azrielli v. Cohen Law Offices, 21 F.3d 512, 517 (2d Cir. 1994)).



42

145 which

First Jersey Securities was followed by SEC v. U.S. Environmental, Inc.,
held that a stock trader could be primarily liable under Section 10(b) for executing trades that he
knew were part of a program to manipulate the price of the stock even though he did not share the
overall purpose of that program.**® The Circuit concluded, with referenceto First Jersey Securities,
that the stock trader “‘participated in the fraudulent scheme”'*" because the trader “himsdf
‘commi[tted] a manipulative act’ . . . by effecting the very buy and sell orders that manipulated
USE’s stock upward.”

The Second Circuit thus appears to have indicated that a“ participant” in afraud can
beliable, but this formul ationissubject to uncertainty. For one thing, the bright line test means that
the “participant” formulation no longer appliesin the very context — actionable misstatements and
omissionsin violation of Rule 10b-5(b) —inwhichit first wasused. Nor isit clear what would make
someone a “participant” in a Rule 10b-5(a) or (c) scheme. First Jersey Securities and U.S.
Environmental thus send an unclear message with respect to the allegations against the bank
defendants relating to ther structuring of and participation in certain transactions.

In determining whether subsections (a) and (c) of Rule 10b-5 reach those all egations,

the Court bearsin mind that the language of Section 10(b) and subsections (a) and (c) is quite broad

and that the Supreme Court has emphasi zed repeatedly that Section 10(b) “should be * construed not
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technically and restrictively, but flexibly to effectuate its remedial purposes.’”** The Court
neverthelessreturns, asthe Supreme Court repeatedly hasinstructed, to the text of Section 10(b).**°
The Supreme Court has given instruction on the meaning of the relevant terms in
Section 10(b). The key phrase for present purposesis “directly orindirectly . . . [tJo use or employ
..any ... deceptive deviceor contrivance.” “Device,” according to the Supreme Court, should be
understood to mean “that whichisdevised, or formed by design; acontrivance; aninvention; project;
scheme; often, aschemeto deceive; a stratagem; an artifice.” Contrivance, the Court noted, means
“athing contrived or used in contriving; ascheme, plan, or artifice.”**' The samedictionary used by
the Supreme Court defines “ deceptive” as “[t]ending to deceive; having power to mislead.”*>

So far as this Court is aware, only one other court has attempted to resolve the
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SEC v. Zandford, 535 U.S. 813, 819 (2002) (quoting Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v.
United States, 406 U.S. 128, 151 (1972) (internal quotation marksomitted)); accord Pinter
v. Dahl, 486 U.S. 622, 653 (1988); Herman & MacLeanv. Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375, 386-
87 (1983); Santa Fe Indus., 430 U.S. at 475-76; Superintendent of Ins. v. Bankers Life &
Cas. Co., 404 U.S. 6, 12 (1971); SEC Capital Gains Res. Bureau, Inc., 375U.S. 180, 195
(1963).
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viability of allegations similar to those here by rigorous analysis of the text of Section 10(b).*>® In
re Lernout & Hauspie Securities Litigation™* addressed all egationsthat anissuer’ sbusinesspartners
had created shell companies, knowing that the issuer intended to enter into bogus licensing
agreementswith them and thusto inflate its bottom line.™ The defendants argued that the investors
were misled only by the issuer’s misrepresentations relating to the sham entities and not by their
creation. According to the defendants, the business partners therefore at most were aiders and
abettors. The plaintiffs countered that the business partners had participated directly in a scheme
intended to mislead investors and that theformation of the shell entities could not be separated from
the mi srepresentationsbased on them. After analyzing thetext of Section 10(b), thecourt concluded:
“the better reading of § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 isthat they impose primary liability on
any person who substantially participates in a manipulative or deceptive scheme by
directly or indirectly employing amanipulative or deceptivedevice (likethecreation
or financing of a sham entity) intended to mislead investors, even if a material
misstatement by another person creates the nexus between the scheme and the

securities market.”®

In other words, the sham companies were deceptive devices because they created an appearance of
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Other decisionsin recent years have examined whether banks and other business partners
couldbeprimarily liableunder Section 10(b) wherethey structured or financed transactions
that were the basis of misrepresentations on the issuer’s financial statements. See In re
Dynegy, Inc. Sec. Litig.,, 339 F. Supp.2d 804, 914-16 (S.D. Tex. 2004); In re
Homestore.com, Inc. Sec. Litig., 252 F. Supp.2d 1018, 1037-42 (C.D. Cal. 2003); In re
Enron Corp. Sec., Derivative & ERISA Litig., 235 F. Supp.2d 549, 692-704 (S.D. Tex.
2002). None of these decisions, however, discussed in any depth the text of Section 10(b).
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341-42 (D. Mass. 2005).

155
236 F. Supp.2d at 166-69.
156

Id. at 173; accord Quaak, 357 F. Supp.2d at 341.



45

substance where substance was | acking.

ThisCourt largely agrees, but it takesissue withthe Lernout & Hauspie court on one
point. Theterm “ substantially participated” does not appear in thetext of Section 10(b) or Rule 10b-
5, and it invites dispute over whether a particular defendant’ s role was or was not substantial. The
text asks only whether a defendant directly or indirectly used or employed a manipulative or
deceptive device or contrivance.”> The Court adheres to that language.

One final point. This analysis is not a back door into liability for those who help
others make afal se statement or omission in violation of subsection (b) of Rule 10b-5. The Second
Circuit has made clear that to “make” a statement for purposes of Rule 10b-5(b) requires that the
statement be attributed to its maker at thetimeit is made.”® That is a different matter from whether
adefendant’ schallenged conduct in rel ation to afraudul ent scheme constitutesthe use of adeceptive

device or contrivance.

V. Sufficiency of the Section 10(b) Claims
Theactsfor whichtheplaintiffsseek to hold the defendant financid institutionsliable
fall into two mgor groups: (1) structuring and participaing in transactions that were hidden or

mischaracterized on Parmal at’ sfinancial statements, allegedly in violation of Rule 10b-5(a) and (c),
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These words of course will have to be applied in each case, and there will be disputes over
whether they apply to particular fact patterns. At a certain point, however, attempts to
translate an inquiry about the reach of a datute into a judge-made test become
counter-productive. What disputes there are should focus on the language of the statuteand
rule in question.
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and (2) making certain statements or omissions in connection with the foregoing, dlegedly in

violation of Rule 10b-5(b).™*® The Court considers whether the complaint sufficiently alleges the

elements of the relevant causes of action.

A. Allegations Regarding Structuring and Participating in Transactions

1. Violation of Rule 10b-5(a) and (c)

As discussed above, the major question here is whether the banks directly or

indirectly used or employed any deviceor contrivance with the capacity or tendency to deceive. The
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Thecomplaint containsvague all egationsthat Parmal at made anumber of gatements*” with
theactive participation” of the bank defendants. See Cpt. 11468, 516, 625, 690, 751. These
assertions are entirely conclusory, at least with respect to the banks, and therefore fail to
meet the requirements of Rule 9(b) and the PSLRA for purposes of the claimsagainst the
banks. They run afoul also of Central Bank and the bright line test announced in Wright v.
Ernst & Young LLP, 152 F.3d 169, 175 (2d Cir. 1998). Also foreclosed by Central Bank
isany liability based on the allegation that the bank defendants“knew” that “the financial
statementsof Parmal at and the consolidated financial statementsof the Parmalat Group had
not been prepared in accordance with applicable rules and regulations or financial and
accounting principles,” Cpt. §573.

In addition, thecomplaint allegesthat Citibank accountsin thenameof Parmalat’ slaw firm
were used to receive large amounts misappropriated from Parmalat, that Citibank knew or
was reckless in not knowing that the accounts were being used for money-laundering and
other improper activities, andthat Citibank failed to fulfill itsobligationto prevent or report
the activity. Id. 1 824-28. These allegations are incongruously tacked on to the end of the
allegationsregarding Citibank’ sscienter with respect to the Parmalat Canada arrangement.
Even if these allegations made out the necessary connection with the purchase or sale of
securities—apoint of which the Court isnot at all certain —they would run afoul of Central
Bank. Nor are these allegations even remotely relevant to Citibank’ sscienter regarding the
Parmdat Canada arrangement.

Similarly, the allegation that “ Citigroup, Bank of America and other financial institutions
provided extensive banking servicesto Parmal at that furthered and conceal ed the fraudul ent
and manipul ative accounting practices of Parmalat, by channeling hundreds of millions of
dollars through United States bank accounts, and siphoning off hundreds of millions of
dollarsfrom Parmalat through various U.S. bank accounts,” id. 182, runsafoul of both Rule
9(b) and Central Bank.
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alleged transactions fdl into three groups.

a. Securitization and Factoring of Invoices

Thecomplaint allegesthat Citigroup securitized, and BNL factored, invoicesthat, for
various reasons, were worthless.!® Each thought itself secure from the obvious credit “risk,”
Citigroup becauseit sold the receivables or assigned back to Parmalat the right to collect payment
(thecomplaintisnot entirely clear on thispoint), and BNL becauseit relied on Parmalat’ sguarantee.
Parmalat’s security holders, however, alegedly were not so fortunate. They were victimized by
Parmalat’ s misleading financial satements.

The Court concludes that the arrangements involving the regular factoring and
securitization of worthlessinvoices were deceptive devices or contrivances for purposes of Section
10(b). Thesewereinventions, projects, or schemeswith the tendency to decel ve becausethey created
the appearance of aconventional factoring or securitization operation when, in fact, the reality was

quitedifferent. BNL knew when it paid Parmalat for the invoices that they were worth nothing and

were in fact atrick to disguise its loan to Parmalat. The same is true of Citigroup’s purchase of
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Thereis another way to understand the allegations against Citigroup. They could be read
to suggest that the distributor invoices were not worthless at al, but rather, like the
supermarket invoices, represented valid receivables, and that the fraud here arose from
Parmalat’s failure to disclose in its financial statements that the proceeds of the
securitization of the distributor invoices needed to be offset against Parmd at’ sobligations
to those distributors. That is, it is possible that Parmalat never sold bad invoices to
Citigroup but simply misrepresented the effect of the securitization transactions on its
financia health. On this view, the relevant allegations likely would fail to state a clam
against Citigroup for reasons set forth in thefollowing section, namely that Citibank would
not have committed a deceptive act but rather merely facilitated Parmal at’ s misstatements.
At this stage, however, the Court is obliged to draw from the complaint all reasonable
inferencesintheplaintiffs’ favor and theref ore assumesfor present purposesthat Citigroup
securitized worthless invoices.
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certaininvoices. If the allegations of the complaint are accepted, the banks used these devices. Inthe
language of Rule 10b-5(c), the banks engaged in acts, practices, or courses of business that would
operate as a fraud or deceit upon others. In these circumstances, it cannot be said that the banks
conduct fell outside of Rule 10b-5 or Section 10(b).*®*

The defendants’ argument that they were a most aiders and abettors of a program
pursuant to which Parmalat made mi srepresentationsonitsfinancial statementsmissesthemark. The
transactionsin which the defendants engaged were by nature deceptive. They depended on afiction,
namely that the invoices had value. It is impossible to separate the deceptive nature of the
transactionsfrom the deception actually practiced upon Parmalat’ sinvestors. Neither the statute nor

the rule requires such a distinction.

b. Other Transactions that Resulted in Mischaracterization of Debt

A number of the allegations against the banks concern transactions in which they
made loans allegedly disguised as equity investments or assets. These principally include the
allegationsagainst BoA involving the private placement of Parmalat Administracao’ ssecuritiesand
those against Citigroup involving Buconero and Gedlat, as well as Parmalat Canada.

In each of these cases, what remainswhen the bluster is stri pped away arefinancings
and investments. These transactions were not shams. Nor did they depend on any fictions. There
is no suggestion that Citigroup did not own the equity stakes in the rdevant Parmalat entities that

it purported to buy. The same is true of the investments made by the purchasers of the Parmalat
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Cf. In re Lernout & Hauspie Sec. Litig., 236 F. Supp.2d 161, 174-76 (D. Mass. 2003);
Quaak v. Dexia, S.A., 357 F. Supp.2d 330, 341-42 (D. Mass. 2005).
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Administracao debt privately placed by BoA. The put options established floors on Citigroup’ sand
theprivateinvestors potential losses, but thereisno suggestion that the transactionswere something
other than what they appeared to be. These arrangements therefore were not inventions, projects, or
schemes with the tendency to deceive. Any deceptiveness resulted from the manner in which
Parmalat or its auditors described the transactions on Parmalat’ s bal ance sheets and e sewhere. In
entering into these transactions, the banks therefore did not use or employ a deceptive device or
contrivance. At worst, the banks designed and entered into the transactions knowing or even
intending that Parmaat or its auditors would misrepresent the nature of the arrangements. That is,
they substantially assisted fraud with culpable knowledge — in other words, they aided and abetted
it. Under Central Bank, of course, that is not a basis for private civil liability.*® The complaint
thereforewill be dismissed insofar asit seeksto hold the defendant banksliable for participating in

these transactions.

C. The CSFB Transactions
The allegations against CSFB present a close question. It is not entirely clear from
the complaint whether the purported transfer or reinquishment of the conversion right for half the
value of the bond issue was part of a deceptive device or contrivance. On the one hand, CSFB’s
relinquishment of the conversion right presumably had some value to Parmalat. On the other hand,

if the alegations are given the interpretation most generous to the plaintiffs, the parties grossly

162

The plaintiffs' memorandum characterizes Buconero as a “sham entity” or “fraudulent
SPE,” Pl. Mem. 9, 45, but abank’s use of special purpose corporate entities in connection
with financing and other investment arrangements is neither unusual nor deceptive in and
of itself.
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overstated that value and did so for the purpose of inflating Parmalat’s assets on its financia
statements. The conversion right thus may well have played arole similar to that of theinvoicesin
the BNL arrangement. The Court isobligated soto assume at thisstage, where reasonableinferences
are to be drawn in the plaintiffs favor. Nor can there be any dispute that if this was a deceptive
device or contrivance, then CSFB used it or engaged in a course of business that would operate as

afraud or deceit.

2. Effect on Market for Securities or Connection with Their Purchase and Sale
BNL, but not Citigroup or CSFB, arguesthat itsalleged actswere not connected with
the purchase or sale of securities.'®® It ismistaken. A plaintiff makes out a sufficient nexus with the
purchase or sale of securities when the defendants’ deceptive conduct affects a market for
securities.'® The alleged factoring and securitization schemes would have created the appearance

of revenue or assets where there was none and thus distorted the prices of Parmalat’ s securities.’®

3. Scienter
Citigroup, BNL, and CSFB arguethat the complaint fail sto plead scienter adequately.

The Court disagrees. The plantiffs have set forth with particularity facts that constitute strong

163
BNL Mem. 14 n.12.
164

E.g., In re Global Crossing, Ltd. Sec. Litig., 322 F. Supp.2d 319, 329 (S.D.N.Y. 2004)
(quoting In re Initial Public Offering Sec. Litig., 241 F. Supp.2d 281, 385 (S.D.N.Y . 2003)
(citing In re Blech Sec. Litig., 961 F. Supp. 569, 582 (S.D.N.Y. 1997))).
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Cf. Global Crossing, 322 F. Supp.2d a 335-37; In re Enron Corp., Derivative & ERISA
Sec. Litig., 235 F. Supp.2d 549 (S.D. Tex. 2002); In re Worldcom, Inc. Sec. Litig., 294 F.
Supp.2d 392 (S.D.N.Y. 2003).
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circumstantial evidence of conscious misbehavior or recklessness.

The complaint assertsthat Citigroup wasintimately familiar with Parmalat’ s billing
system and structured the invoi ce securitization program. These assertions are supported by detailed
allegations regarding due diligence that Citigroup performed regarding Parmala’ s billing system,
aswell as an allegation that Citigroup instaled proprietary software on Parmdat’ s computers. The
plaintiffstherefore havepled factsthat would evidenceCitigroup’ sconsc ousnessof, or recklessness
regarding, the alleged worthl essness of some of the invoi ces securitized by Eurekaand Archimedes.

Citigroup’s argument that these allegations “establish[] only that Citigroup
understood Parmala’s Italian distribution system, not that it knew it was being misused,”*® is
unpersuasive. The argument assumes that only direct, and not circumstantial, evidence can be used
to establish scienter. That of course is not the case, and Citigroup’s familiarity with Parmala’s
billing system is strong circumstantial evidence, at least in this context, from which one could infer
that Citigroup knew that the system was being misused.*’

A similar analysis applies to the allegations against BNL. BNL and Ifitalia' s very
participation in the factoring arrangement, which depended on the recycling of stae invoices, if

proven, would constitute strong circumstantial evidencethat BNL or Ifitaliaunderstood exactly what

166
Citigroup Mem. 17.
167

Citigroup argues as well that the complaint “fails to explain why Citigroup would have
knowingly purchased phony receivables from Parmalat.” /d. at 18. On the contrary, the
complaint is quite clear on this point. Citigroup allegedly earned $35 million in fees or
commissionsfor itsrolein the securitization program. Cpt. 1818. Whether thisis sufficient
to support an inference of motive is a question the Court need not reach in light of its
conclusion that the complaint adequately pleads facts giving rise to an inference of
conscious misbehavior or recklessness.
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they werereceivinginexchangefor their loanstoParmalat. Likewise, thepracticeof alteringasingle

digit ontheinvoicesto avoid detection by BNL’ s computerswould constitute strong circumstantial

evidence of conscious misbehavior.

BNL’s principa argument regarding scienter is that ssmply because BNL was

Ifitalia’s parent does not mean that BNL knew about the fasity of the invoices handled by its

subsidiary, Ifitalia.*® Thisargument, however, ignoresthe language of the complaint, which alleges

that BNL, and not just Ifitalia, was a party to and involved in many of the deceptive transactions

rel ated to the factoring scheme.’® The Court of courseisrequired to accept these allegations at face

168
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BNL argues as well, in defending against the Section 20(a) claim, that the allegations of
Ifitdia’ sscienter areinsufficient. Theseargumentsbarely merit attention. First, BNL argues
that “[t]he alleged knowledge of ‘ stal€’ invoicesby Ifitalia. . . comesfrom testimony given
by Claudio Pessna, an indicted Parmalat executive who was allegedly involved in the
destruction of evidence.” BNL Mem. 23. The Court is baffled that experienced attorneys
would argue on a motion to dismiss that the Court should ignore an allegation in a
complaint simply because it is attributed to a source that the defendants believe is not
credible.

BNL next arguesthat “ Pessina’ s statementsare not sufficient to show that Ifitaliahadintent
to ‘defraud, manipulate, or deceive’ investorsin Parmalat securities. They certainly do not
support a ‘strong inference’ that Ifitalia knew of Parmalat’s intent to misstate revenues.”
Id. The Courtisnot at all sure of BNL’sunstated premisethat liability under Section 10(b)
requires an intent to further the overall scheme (or knowledge of it), as opposed to just
consciousness of one’'s own misconduct. Indeed, BNL’s position would appear to be
foreclosed by U.S. Environmental, Inc., 155 F.3d at 111-12. It isunnecessary toreach this
question, however, because BNL’ sinterpretation of the complaint isunpersuasive even on
itsownterms. If the allegations aretrue, Ifitaliahad to have known that Parmalat’ srevenue
was being distorted.

For example:

“[Parmalat dealers| always paid the entire amount due directly to BNL at the
expiration date. . ..

“ BNL aso had knowledge of this schemeduetothe crude way Parmal at altered the
invoices to make them acceptable to BNL’ s software.. . . .
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value.

CSFB likewise is said to have structured the transactions, participated in them as
Parmalat’s counterparty, and underwritten the relevant bond issues, dl so that Parmalat could
overstate its assetsand understate its debt. These allegations, if proven, are more than sufficient to

giveriseto an inference of conscious misbehavior, let aone recklessness.

4. Causation
“Itislong settled that asecurities-fraud plaintiff * must proveboth transaction and | oss

causation.’”*”® Transaction causation has been described as “ akin to reliance.”*"* At the pleading

stage, it requires” only an allegation that ‘ but for’” the alleged misconduct, “* the plaintiff would not
haveenteredinto thedetrimental securitiestransaction.’” Loss causationisthe* causal link between

the alleged misconduct and the economic harm ultimately suffered by the plaintiff.’”*"? The bank

“When payment on aset of invoices became due, Contal provided BNL with anew
list of stale invoices to receive additional cash. The list of stale invoices was
exactly the same as the prior lists provided to BNL, except that at BNL’s request
and instruction, Parmalat changed a single digit on each invoice’ s number . . . .

“Chiaruttini highlighted in her report one such transaction . . . [in which] Parmalat
assigned to its subsidiary Contal non-existent credits . . . and Contal executed a
factoring agreement with BNL to receive cash advance on such credits. The terms
of the agreement provided that Contal was obligated to make payment directly to
BNL in the event of default.” Cpt. 11299, 302-04 (emphases added).

170

Lentellv. Merrill Lynch & Co., 396 F.3d 161, 172 (2d Cir. 2005) (quoting First Nationwide
Bank v. Gelt Funding Corp., 27 F.3d 763, 769 (2d Cir. 1994)), pet’'n for cert. filed, 73
U.S.L.W. 3632 (Apr. 11, 2005) (No. 04-1371).

171
Lentell, 396 F.3d at 172.
172

Id. (quoting Emergent Capital Inv. Mgmt., LLC v. Stonepath Group, Inc., 343 F.3d 189,
197 (2d Cir. 2003)); accord Dura Pharms., Inc. v. Broudo, 125 S. Ct. 1627, 1629, 1631
(2005).



defendants argue that the complaint does not adequately allege causation.

a. Transaction Causation

Theplaintiffs contend that they would not have purchased Parmal at’ sstock or bonds,
or at least not done so at the same prices, had they known its true financial condition.'”® The
plaintiffs do not claim to have relied on particular actions of the defendants. Instead they argue that
the defendants committed a fraud on the market.

The fraud-on-the-market doctrine permits a rebuttable presumption of reliance if a
company’s securities traded in an efficient market. The theory is that, in an open and developed
market, the priceof thesecurity isdetermined by all availableinformation.'”* “ Misl eading statements
will therefore defraud purchasers of stock even if the purchasers do not directly rely on the
misstatements.”*” According to the plaintiffs, the relevant schemes created the appearance of

revenueor assetsfor Parmal at where therewasnone and theref ore may be presumed to have affected

173

The complaint asserts:

“As aresult of the fraudulent activities of the Bank Defendants.. . . , the price of
Parmaat securitieswere artificially inflated during at least the Class Period.

“In ignorance of Parmdat’ s true financial condition, Plaintiffs, relying upon the
integrity of the market price for Parmalat’s securities, purchased or otherwise
acquired Parmalat securities at artificidly inflated prices during the Class Period.

“But for the fraud, none of the securities that were brought to market could have
been sold at any price and those securitiesthat were traded in the market would not
have been purchased at these artificidly inflated prices.” Cpt. 1 1168-70.
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Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485U.S. 224, 241-47 (1988); accord, e.g., Hevesi v. Citigroup Inc.,
366 F.3d 70, 77 (2d Cir. 2004).

175
Basic, 485 U.S. at 241-42 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).
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the prices of Parmalat’s securities if the market for them was efficient.

Whether a market is efficient often is a question of fact.'’® As the Court’s earlier

opinion noted, the plaintiffs sufficiently alege that the markets for Parmalat’s securities were

efficient.’”” Citigroup, but not BNL, argues that the plaintiffs may not rely on the fraud-on-the-

market doctrinebecausethe complaint failsto specify the marketsfor Parmalat’ s various securities,

the market makers, the weekly trading volume, and empirical evidence that the price of Parmalat

securities moved in response to announcements and events. Citigroup, however, cites no authority

for itsimplicit premise that the plaintiffs are required to plead with exquisite specificity all of the

information that ultimately will bear on the factual determination of whether the markets for the

relevant securities were efficient.’® “[ T]he question on amotion to dismissis not whether plaintiff

176

177

178

See In re Laser Arms Corp. Sec. Litig., 794 F. Supp. 475, 490 (S.D.N.Y. 1989), aff"d, 969
F.2d 15, 16 (2d Cir. 1992).

See Parmalat I, 2005 WL 1527674, at * 15-16; see also Cpt. 1 1064.

Citigroupreliesprimarily on Cammer v. Bloom, 711 F. Supp. 1264, 1286-87 (D.N.J. 1989),
but in that case the court converted amotion to dismissinto onefor summary judgment and
examined a substantial affidavit bearing on the pertinent factors. Moreover, the court
considered whether to hold an evidentiary hearing to inquire into the efficiency of the
relevant market. It declined to do so, but it clearly believed that this determination must be
based on evidence rather than the pleadings alone. See id. at 1287-93. Citigroup cites also
(8) Freeman v. Laventhal & Horwath, 915 F.2d 193, 198-99 (6th Cir. 1990), asummary
judgmentdecision, (b) Mottv. R.G. Dickinson & Co., N0.92-1450-PFK, 1993 WL 342839,
at *2 (D. Kan. Aug. 13, 1993), which followed a holding from Freeman that the primary
market for anew issue of municipal bonds isinefficient as a matter of law, and (¢) Unger
v. Amedisys Inc., 401 F.3d 316 (5th Cir. 2005), which reviewed a class certification
decision that was based on afactual record. See Citigroup Mem. 22-24; Citigroup Reply
Mem. 8-9.
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has proved an efficient market, but whether he has pleaded one.”*”® The Court concludes that the
fraud-on-the-market doctrine is applicable at this stage.

That, however, isnot theend of theinquiry. Thefraud-on-the-market doctrine permits
a presumption that the plaintiffs relied on the misstatements of Parmalat in connection with the
relevant schemes involving the banks. The bank defendants, however, made no representations in
connection with those schemes, at least none relevant here. The plaintiffs therefore cannot be said
to have relied on the banks.

Although it often issaid that relianceis an element of aprivate cause of action under
Rule 10b-5, that formulation typically arises in the context of Rule 10b-5 actions based on
mi sstatements and omissions—in other words, conduct in violation of Rule 10b-5(b) rather than (a)
and (c). Thereliancerequirement inthat context hasavery specific function: in the Supreme Court’s
words, to “provide[] the requisite causal connection between a defendant’ s misrepresentation and
aplantiff’ sinjury”*¥ or, in the formulation of the Second Circuit, “to certify that the conduct of the
defendant actually caused the plaintiff’s injury.”*®* At the same time, as the Supreme Court has

explained, “[t]hereis. . . more than one way to demonstrate the causal connection” for purposes of
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Hayes v. Gross, 982 F.2d 104, 107 (3d Cir. 1992); accord Chu v. Sabratek Corp., 100 F.
Supp.2d 815, 826 (N.D. Ill. 2000); see also In re USA Talks.com, Inc. Sec. Litig., NoO.
99-CV-0162-L (JA), 2000 WL 1887516, at *6 (S.D. Cal. Sept. 14, 2000) (“A showing of
whether the Cammer elements are met requires afactual exploration which is premature at
the motion to dismiss stage.”).
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Basic, 485 U.S. at 243.
181

List v. Fashion Park, Inc., 340 F.2d 457, 462 (2d Cir. 1965) (citing RESTATEMENT OF
ToRrTs § 546 (1938); WiLLIAM L. PROSSER, HANDBOOK OF THE LAW oF TorTs 550 (2d ed.
1955); 1FowLERV.HARPERAND FLEMING JAMES, JR., THE LAW OF TORTS 583-84 (1956)).
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the Rule 10b-5 cause of action,'® acauseof action that does not precisely track the common law tort
of fraud.'® Moreover, “ the plaintiff is not required to prove that the defendant’ s act wasthe soleand
exclusivecauseof hisinjury; heneed only show that it was substantial, i.e., asignificant contributing
cause.”

In this case, the complaint alleges tha the banks' actions in connection with the
relevant transactions actually and foreseeably caused losses in the securities markets. The banks
made no rel evant mi srepresentati onsto those markets, but they knew that the very purpose of certain
of their transactionswasto allow Parmal at to make such misrepresentations. In these circumstances,
both the banks and Parmal at are alleged causes of the losses in question. So long as both committed
actsin violation of statute and rule, both may be liable.

Thisanalysisis not an end run around Central Bank. 1f a defendant has committed
no act within the scope of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 — asin fact was the case in Central Bank
—thenliability will not arise on the theory that that defendant assi sted another inviolating the statute
and rule. But where, as alleged here, afinancial institution entersinto deceptive transactions as part
of a schemein violation of Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) that causes foreseeable losses in the securities

markets, that institution is subject to private liability under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.

182
Basic, 485 U.S. at 243.

183
See id. (agreeing that the reliance requirement applicable to common law fraud may be
modified in the Rule 10b-5 context); Dura Pharms., 125 S. Ct. a& 1631 (“ The courts have

implied from [Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5] a private damages action, which resembles,
but is not identical to, common-law tort actions for deceit and misrepresentation.”).

184

Wilson v. Comtech Telecomms. Corp., 648 F.2d 88, 92 (2d Cir. 1981) (internal quotation
marks and citation omitted).
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b. Loss Causation

The Second Circuit recently explained in the context of fraud actions based on
mi sstatementsand omissions: “ To plead | oss causation, thecomplaint must allege factsthat support
an inference that [the defendant’ s| misstatements and omissions concealed the circumstances that
bear upon theloss suffered such that plaintiffswould have been spared all or an ascertainableportion
of that loss absent the fraud.”*® In short, “the damages suffered by plaintiff must be a foreseeable
consequence of any misrepresentation or material omission.”*# As the Court noted in its earlier
opinion, loss causation does not, as the defendants would have it, require a corrective disclosure
followed by adeclinein price.’®’

The loss causation requirement applies as well where the claims are based on
deceptive or manipulative conduct in violation of Rule 10b-5(a) and (c).'* By analogy, the loss
causation requirement will besatisfiedif such conduct had the effect of conceding the circumstances
that bore on the ultimateloss. The schemesinvolving worthlessinvoicesand the CSFB transactions
created the appearance of assets or revenue where there was none and therefore concealed, among
other things, the risks that Parmalat would be unable to service its debt and consequently suffer

financia collapse. Asthe earlier opinion explained, that risk materialized when Parmalat suffered
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Lentell, 396 F.3d at 175.
186

Emergent Capital Inv. Mgmt., 343 F.3d at 197 (quoting Castellano v. Young & Rubicam,
Inc., 257 F.3d 171, 186 (2d Cir. 2001)).

187
Parmalat I, 2005 WL 1527674, a& *16-17.
188

See 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(4); see also Dura Pharms., 125 S. Ct. a 1631.
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aliquidity crisisin December 2003.1%°

5. Subject Matter Jurisdiction over Claims Against BNL and CSFB

The complaint does not allege that any part of the transactions involving BNL and

and CSFB occurred in the United States."° It is essentially undisputed that these were foreign

transactions.

In assessing whether federal subject-matter jurisdiction extends to claims based on

transnational securities frauds, courts examine “(1) whether the wrongful conduct occurred in the

United States, and (2) whether the wrongful conduct had a substantial effect in the United States or

upon United States citizens.”'**

189

190

191

See Parmalat I, 2005 WL 1527674, a *17.

See Cpt. 11 52-95, 184-85, 295-309, 406-18, 860-71.

BNL contendsthat all of BNL and Ifitalia sactionsoccurredinltay, BNL Mem. 7, apoint
not disputed by the plaintiffs but not supported by the complaint, which issilent astowhere
the rdevant events occurred.

SECv. Berger, 322 F.3d 187, 192 (2d Cir. 2003); accord Itoba Ltd. v. Lep Group PLC, 54
F.3d 118, 121-22 (2d Cir. 1995); OSRecovery, Inc. v. One Groupe Int’l, Inc., 354 F.
Supp.2d 357, 366 (S.D.N.Y. 2005).

The plaintiffs argue that these factors should be evaluated with respect to the “fraud as a
whole,” rather than with respect to the activities of an individual defendant challenging
subject-matter jurisdiction. Pl. Mem. 123. The short answer to this contention is that even
if the plaintiffs’ “fraud as a whole” theory is correct — the Court assumes this without
deciding it — there was no “fraud as awhole,” at least none that included BNL and CSFB.
Theallegationsagainst BNL and CSFB describe discreet transactionsunrel ated to those that

the other banks are alleged to have engaged in.

Theplaintiffscite only two casesfor their “fraud asawhole’ theory. In one, the defendants
were alleged to have conspired to make false or misleading statements regarding sales
projectionsin asingleprospectusor to have aided and abetted that viol ation. CL-Alexanders
Laing & Cruickshank v. Goldfeld, 709 F. Supp. 472, 473-75, 478 (S.D.N.Y. 1989). In the
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Jurisdiction based on conduct within the United States exists only when “ substantial

actsin furtherance of the fraud werecommitted withinthe United States.” *** The complaint does not

allege that BNL, CSFB, or Parmala committed any substantid acts in the United States in

furtherance of the schemesinvolving BNL and CSFB, apoint implicitly conceded by the plaintiffs

memorandum.’*® Any jurisdiction over the claims against BNL and CSFB therefore must be based

upon effectsin the United States of those banks’ alleged wrongful conduct. A corollary isthat there

is no subject matter jurisdiction over claims against BNL and CSFB brought by foreigners who

purchased Parma at securities outside the United States.'*

192

193

194

other, Cromer Finance Ltd. v. Berger, No. 00 Civ. 2284 DLC, 2003 WL 21436164
(S.D.N.Y. June 23, 2003), the dlegations concerned a single program to falsify a fund's
monthly account statementsand related reports in order to hide losses resulting from risky
trading strategies. See id. at *1, 3, 5; Cromer Finance Ltd. v. Berger, 137 F. Supp.2d 452,
463-66 (S.D.N.Y. 2001).

Psimenos v. E.F. Hutton & Co., 722 F.2d 1041, 1045 (2d Cir. 1983) (citing /7T v. Vencap,
Ltd., 519 F.2d 1001, 1018 (2d Cir. 1975)); accord Berger, 322 F.3d at 193.

The complaint contains a solitary allegation that one of Parmdat’s attorneys created a
Delaware corporation “to replace Contal in [the BNL factoring] scheme,” Cpt. 301. Itis
not clear, however, what acts were performed in connection with the Delaware entity,
where they were performed, and how the Delaware entity could have been created to
replace Contal if it also controlled Contal at material times. See id. 1 300. This allegation
therefore does not satisfy the requirement of a“ substantial” act.

See Bersch v. Drexel Firestone, Inc., 519 F.2d 974, 993 (2d Cir. 1975) (“the anti-fraud
provisions of thefedera securitieslaws. . . [d]o not apply to losses from sales of securities
to foreigners outside the United States unless acts (or culpable failures to act) within the
United States directly caused such losses.”); see also In re Bayer AG Sec. Litig., No. 03
Civ. 1546 WHP, 2004 WL 2190357, at *17 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 30, 2004) (plaintiffsand court
agreed on absence of effects-based jurisdiction over claims by foreign purchasers of
securitiesmainly listed on foreign exchanges).

Dicta in some cases contempl ate that there might bejurisdiction over claims by foreigners
resident outside the United States who purchased securities in U.S. markets where the
marketswere affected by conduct by defendantsthat occurred outsidethe U.S. See Europe
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Jurisdiction over securities fraud clams is appropriate “whenever a predominantly
forei gntransaction hassubstantial effectswithinthe United States.”** In Bersch v. Drexel Firestone,
Inc.,*® Judge Friendly hed that this condition was satisfied where it was alleged that twenty-two
U.S. resdents, who purchased only one percent of the shares offered in a foreign corporation’s
distribution of stock, potentially weredefrauded by misstatementsin prospectusesintended for non-
U.S. investors.™ Judge Newman followed this holding in Consolidated Gold Fields PLC v.
Minorco, S.A.**® In that case, tender offer documents containing allegedly false and misleading
statements about the target had been sent by the potential acquirer, a Luxembourg corporation, to
the British nominees of shareholders and depository banks resident in the United States. The
nominees were required to forward the documents to the beneficial owners in the United States,
which held approximately 2.5 percent of the target corporation’s shares.* The Circuit concluded

that federal jurisdiction existed because the “*effect’ (the transmittal of the documents by the

and Overseas Commodity Traders, S.A. v. Banque Paribas London, 147 F.3d 118, 128 (2d
Cir. 1998); Bersch, 519 F.2d at 993 (“ Other fact situaions, such as losses to foreigners
from sales to them within the United States, are not beforeus.”); Leasco Data Processing
Equip. Corp. v. Maxwell, 468 F.2d 1326, 1334 (2d Cir. 1972).

None of the plaintiffs here, however, were non-U.S. residents that purchased on U.S.
exchanges, and therefore thisissueisimmaterial.

195
Consolidated Gold Fields PLC v. Minorco, S.A., 871 F.2d 252, 261-62 (2d Cir. 1989).
19
519 F.2d 974 (2d Cir. 1975).
197
See id. at 980, 991.
198
871 F.2d 252.
199

Id. at 255-56, 261-62.
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nominees) was clearly a direct and foreseeable result of the conduct outside the territory of the
United States.”*®

The same rational e supports the conclusion that jurisdiction over the claims against
BNL and CSFB exists hereinsofar asthey are brought by purchasers of Parmalat securitiesresident
in the United States. The plaintiffs have alleged that the transactions involving BNL and CSFB
resulted in the creation of fictitious assets or revenues and that Parmalat disseminated false
information about itsfinancial condition, knowingthat investorsin theUnited Stateswouldreceive
and rely upon that information.? This effect is at least as substantial as that found sufficient in
Bersch and Consolidated Gold Fields. These dlegations therefore suffice at the pleading stage to
establish jurisdiction over the U.S. purchasers' claims against BNL and CSFB.

% %

For the foregoing reasons, the motions to dismiss will be denied insofar as the
complaint seeks to hold Citigroup and BNL liable for participating in transactions involving
allegedly worthless invoices, and CSFB liable for participating in the scheme set forth in the
complaint, except that the complaint will be dismissed to the extent that it asserts claims against

BNL and CSFB on behalf of purchasers not resident in the United States.

B. Alleged Misstatements and Omissions
The complaint seeks to hold the defendant financial institutions liablefor three sets

of alleged misstatements or omissions in violation of Rule 10b-5(b): (1) the November 21, 2003

200
Id. at 262.
201

Cpt. 11 57-62.
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press release alegedly approved by Citigroup regarding the Geslat and Buconero arrangement, (2)

the December 18, 1999 press release alegedly co-written by BOA regarding the Parmala

Administracao private placement, and (3) a series of statements and omissions by BoA relating to

BoA loans backed by funds raised from private placements of Parmalat debt.?*

1. The Geslat / Buconero Press Release Allegedly “Approved” by Citigroup

The allegations regarding the press rel ease allegedly approved by Citigroup fail for

at |east two independent reasons.

First and most importantly, these assertionsrun afoul of the bright linerulerequiring

attribution to the defendant at the time the statement was made.?®® Here, the press release was

202

203

Thecomplaint alleges as well that Citigroup executives made misleading statementstothe
pressin 1997 and 1998 regarding the Parmalat Canadaarrangement. Cpt. 11374-75. These
statements, however, were made before the Class Period, and the limitations period for an
action based on them has expired. See 28 U.S.C. § 1658.

Thereis aso an allegation that Citigroup’s Smith Barney unit issued a research report on
November 12, 2003 inwhich it changed itsrating for Parmalat from “Hold” to“Buy.” Cpt.
9 733. The plaintiffs do not press this allegation asa bas s of liability, and in any casethe
complaint does not indicate that there was anything false or misleading about this report.

See section |V.C above.

Theplaintiffs attempt to avoid the bright line attribution rule do not avail. They cite In re
Scholastic Corp. Sec. Litig., 252 F.3d 63, 75-76 (2d Cir. 2001), see Pl. Mem. 86-87, but the
relevant discussion in that case — which does not cite Central Bank, Wright v. Ernst &
Young LLP, 152 F.3d 169 (2d Cir. 1998), or Shapiro v. Cantor, 123 F.3d 717 (2d Cir.1997)
— addressed only whether the complaint properly attributed rel evant misrepresentationsto
aparticular defendant. /n re Scholastic Corp. did not question, |et alone purport to set aside,
the attribution rule set forth in Wright and Shapiro.

Theplaintiffsrely alsoon In re Global Crossing, Ltd. Sec. Litig, 322 F. Supp.2d 319, 332-
34 (S.D.N.Y. 2004). That decision formulated a new version of the Wright rule:

“[A] plaintiff may state a clam for a primary liability under section 10(b) for a
false statement (or omission), even where the statement is not publicly attributed
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Parmalat’s. It was not attributed to Citigroup at the time of its dissemination or otherwise. It

therefore cannot serve as abasis for Section 10(b) liability.

Second, the complaint failsto specify why the pressrelease is false or misleading.

Paintiffs dispute this point, insisting in their memorandum of law that the complaint “ allege[s] that

thisrelease described Citigroup’ srole asa‘ partner’ whenin fact it wasalender.”?* But the relevant

sections of the complaint do not say this. The inference depends on reading between the lines of the

complaint, which Rule 9(b) and the PSLRA are supposed to foreclose. The explanation in the

plaintiffs memorandum may not cure defects in the complaint.?®

204

205

tothedefendant, wherethedefendant’ s partici pation i ssubstantid enough that s’he
may be deemed to have made the statement, and whereinvestors are sufficiently
aware of defendant’ s participation that they may be found to have relied on it asif
the statement had been attributed to the defendant.” /d. at 333.

Even if this variation on Wright were correct, it would not help the plaintiffs. They have
pled no factsto suggest that investors would have attributed the press rel ease to Citigroup,
let done factslikethose at issue in Global Crossing, in which the court observed:

“[1]tisundisputed, asamatter of publicrecord, that Andersen’ saudit reportswere
included in all of GC’s registration statements and annua reports from 1998 to
2000, and that they were widely available to shareholdersduring the class period.
Andersen’s role as GC's auditor was thus well known to investors, who could
easily have relied on the accounting firm's involvement in making any public
financial reports, even where a particular statement was not publicly attributed to
it. Moreover, Andersen’ s aggressive marketing of the novel accounting strategies
promoted in the White Paper, which allegedly ‘became a “must-read” in the
telecom industry,” raises an inference that sophisticated investors would have
known of Andersen’s role in creating the reporting practices behind GC's false
statements. These all egations are sufficient to raise areasonableinference not only
that Andersen was one of the ‘makers of the satements, but also that investors
viewed it as such.” Id. at 334.

Pl. Mem. 86 n.51.

E.g., In re Livent, Inc. Noteholders Sec. Litig., 151 F. Supp.2d 371, 432 (S.D.N.Y. 2001)
(“The complaint cannot, of course, be amended by the briefs in opposition to a motion to
dismiss’); Lazaro v. Good Samaritan Hosp., 54 F. Supp.2d 180, 184 (S.D.N.Y. 1999).
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Even if the complaint somehow could be read to reflect the explanation in the
memorandum, it still would not be clear why the press release was mideading. Thereisnothing in
the complaint, at |east nothing that meets the relevant pleading standards, to suggest that Citigroup,
through Buconero, did not make equity investments in Geslat.*® Rather, the complaint hints that
investors were deceived because additional terms governing the Citigroup / Parmalat relationship
— terms that would have revealed that Parmalat ultimately was liable to repay Citigroup’s
contributions and that the investments therefore should have been recorded asliabilities rather than
equity on Parmalat’ sfinancial statements—were not disclosed. Because these circumstances are not

spelled out in the complaint, it runs afoul of Rule 9(b) and the PSLRA.

2. The Parmalat Administracao Press Release Allegedly Co-Written by BoA

The alegations regarding the December 18, 1999 press rel ease allegedly co-written
by BoA aso fall.

Most importantly, the press release was issued by Parmalat and not attributed to
BoA. %"

Second, the complaint insufficiently pleads BoA’ Sscienter. The pressreleaseissaid

to have been misleading because it did not disclose that the Brazilian company would never be

206
Indeed, thecomplant allegesthat a1999internal Citibank memorandum stated that “[f] rom
Citigroup’s point of view, the [Buconero/ Gedlat arrangement] creates an investment . . .
[that] qualifies as equity from aU.S. tax perspective. ...” Cpt.  799.

207
Global Crossing does not avail here, either. Even if that case states the correct rule, the

complaint failsto allegefacts suggesting that invesorswould atribute the press release to
BOA. See footnote 203 above.
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listed.?® The basis for this information-and-belief allegation is the testimony of a Parmalat officid

that:

“[s]urely from the year 2002, but probably earlier, the management of the Brazilian
group and myself were aware of the substantial economic-financial impossibility to
belisted, especially inlight of the valuesindicated inthe equity transaction organized
by the Bank of America and financed through [private placements].”**

Even assuming that this testimony could support an inference that Parmalat knew at the time the

press release was prepared that the Brazilian entity never could be listed, the complaint fals to

support an inference that BoA knew that and intended to mislead the public.

Thecomplaintinsufficiently allegesmotive. The circumstancessuggest that BoA, far

from wanting to mislead the public, would have had an interest in bringing about the listing of the

Brazilian entity. Itsgain presumably would have been greater if itsand itsfellow investors’ stakein

the Brazilian entity had been sold publicly rather than treated as afour-year loan. “Where plaintiff’s

208

209

The complaint alleges as well that Sala, the alleged BoA employee, “told [a Parmalat
employee] how to describe the transaction without revealing that Parmalat would haveto
repurchase the 18.18% stake at avery substantial premium in the event the Brazilian entity
did not obtain apubliclisting .. ..” Cpt. 400. The press release, however, specifically
states that:

“[s]hould the Brazilian company not be listed within the next four years, Parmal at
Administracao’ s new shareholderswill have the option to sell the shares acquired
in the capital increase back to the Parmalat Group. In this event, the cost to
Parmalat would be equal tothe origind price paid by the North American investors
increased by a spread consistent with the most recent financial transactions
undertaken by the Group on the international capital markets.” Pietrzak Decl. Ex.
A.

Assuming the complant properly characterizes the contingent repurchase, the complaint
failsto explain why “a spread consistent with the most recent financial transactions’ isa
misleading description of “avery substantial premium.”

Cpt. 11 398.
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view of the facts defies economic reason,” the Second Circuit has explained, the complaint “ does
not yield a reasonable inference of fraudulent intent.”%°

Nor arethere are any facts here to suggest conscious misbehavior or recklessness.

3. Misrepresentations and Omissions by BoA in Connection with Loans and

Private Placements

The complaint fails to state a claim based on BoA’ s alleged misrepresentations and
omissions connected with the private placements used to back BoA’s loans to Parmalat. The
allegation that BoA and Parmalat failed to disclose that an $80 million offeringin 1998 was rel ated
to the Venezuelan loan is time-barred. The alegation that “[i]n each instance, Bank of America
publicly announced it had made a conventional |oan in the stated amount to Parmalat” when “[t]he
reality of thesetransactions . . . was much different”?* fails to specify where and when BoA made
theseannouncements. Asfor theallegationthat BoA omitted to discloseinconnection withitsloans
“side letter agreements . . . that required Parmalat to pay additional interest on its loans,”?*? the
complaint fails to allege or show that BoA owed a duty to disclose that would have made an

omission actionable.?

210

Kalnit v. Eichler, 264 F.3d 131, 140-41 (2d Cir. 2001) (quotation marks and citations
omitted).

211

Cpt. 1 847.
212

Id. 1 848.
213

See Grandon v. Merrill Lynch & Co., 147 F.3d 184, 189 (2d Cir. 1998) (“In the case of an
omisson, the duty to disclose generdly ‘arises when one party has information that the
other [party] isentitled to know because of afiduciary or other similar relation of trust and
confidence between them.”” (quoting Chiarella v. United States, 445 U.S. 222, 228 (1980)
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For the foregoing reasons, the complaint will be dismissed insofar asit seeksto hold

the defendants liable for any misrepresentations in, or omissions from, the two press releases, and

for the aleged misrepresentations and omissions relaing to the BoA loans.

VI. Section 20(a) Claims

A. Pleading a Violation of Section 20(a)

Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act provides that:

“[e]very person who, directly or indirectly, controls any person liable under any
provision of this chapter or of any rule or regulation thereunder shall also be liable
jointly and severadly with and to the same extent as such controlled person to any
person to whom such controlled personisliable, unless the controlling person acted
in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce the act or acts constituting the
violation or cause of action.”?*

It isundisputed that acomplaint asserting aclaim under Section 20(a) must allegea

primary violation of the securities laws and control by the defendant over the primary violator. The

defendants argue, and the plaintiffs dispute, that the complaint must allege as well culpable

participation by the controlling person. For reasons stated in an earlier opinion in this matter, the

Court agrees with the plaintiffs.

214

215

(internal quotation marks omitted))); accord Castellano v. Young & Rubicam, Inc., 257
F.3d 171, 179 (2d Cir. 2001); OSRecovery, Inc. v. One Groupe Int’l, Inc., 354 F. Supp.2d
357, 370-71 (S.D.N.Y. 2005).

15 U.S.C. § 78t(a).

Parmalat I, 2005 WL 1527674, at * 18-19; see also Fraternity Fund Ltd. v. Beacon Hill
Asset Mgmt. LLC, 2005 WL 15605086, at *13 (S.D.N.Y. July 5, 2005); Neubauer v. Eva-
Health USA, Inc., 158 F.R.D. 281, 284 (S.D.N.Y. 1994).
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B. Sufficiency of the Allegations

Inlight of the discussion above, the Court need consider only whether the complaint
states claims for controlling person liability against BNL and Citigroup Inc. and Citibank.

For thereasonsdiscussed above, the complaint adequately allegesprimary viol ations
committed by Ifitaliaand the rdevant Citigroup entities. The only remaining issueisthe sufficiency
of the allegations asto contral of Ifitalia by BNL and contral of the rdevant Citigroup entities by
Citigroup Inc. and Citibank. BNL, but not Citigroup, disputes the sufficiency of those dlegations.

The complaint alleges that Ifitaliais“BNL’sfactoring arm,” BNL “owns 99.6% of
Ifitalia,” Ifitalia* acted as agent of, with authority from, and for the benefit of its parent, BNL,” and
BNL “conducted and directed [the relevant] transactions through Ifitalia"?*® The allegations
regarding the Citigroup defendants' control over the relevant Citigroup entities are at least as

detailed.”"’

216
Cpt. 11 295, 297.
217

The substantive allegations are:

“Defendant Buconero LLC (“Buconero”) . . . was formed by Citigroup, Inc. and
Citibank . . . . Citigroup, Inc. owns Buconero. Buconero’ s operations are overseen
by Citibank Overseas Investment Corp. . . .. Buconero was formed by Citigroup,
Inc. and Citibank for the sole purpose of manipulating Parmalat’s financial

statements. . . . [Buconero’g] involvement in transactions with Parmalat entities
wason theauthority of, at thedirection of, and for the benefit of Citigroup, Inc. and
Citibank.

“Defendant Viadattea LLC (“Vialattea’) . . . was formed by Citigroup, Inc. and
Citibank . . . . Citigroup, Inc. owns Viadattea. Viaattea is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Citibank Overseas Investment Corp. and is the direct parent of
Buconero. Vialatteadoes not have officesor staff separatefrom Citibank. Vialattea
was formed by Citigroup, Inc. and Citibank for the sole purpose of manipulating
Parmalat’ sfinancial gatements. . . . Vialatted s involvement in transactions with
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BNL and the plaintiffs agree on the applicable standard: plaintiffs must alege that

“the defendant possessed * the power to direct or causethe direction of the management and policies

of [the allegedly controlled] person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract,

or otherwise.’”#® The allegations of control here are not extremely detailed, but they do not need to

be at this stage, where they are governed by Rule 8.2° For purposes of pleading a Section 20(a)

claim, these allegations are sufficient.”

218

219

220

Parmalat entities was on the authority of, at thedirection of, and for the benefit of
Citigroup, Inc. and Citibank.

“Defendant Eureka Securitization Plc (“Eurekd’) . . . [hag] its principal place of
business in England. Citigroup, Inc. owns Eureka. Eureka shares offices with
Citibank’s London Branch and is managed by Citibank as part of its global
securitization business. . . . Eurekawasformed by Citigroup, Inc. and Citibank for
the sole purpose of manipulating Parmalat’s financial statements . . .. Eureka's
involvement in transactions with Parmal at entities was on the authority of, at the
direction of, and for the benefit of Citigroup, Inc. and Citibank.” Cpt. 1 173-75.

By contrast, the complant contains only conclusory assertions in support of the allegation
that Citigroup Inc. controls Citibank. See id. 1 171-72, 1187-88. This omission is not
particularly troubling, however. Citigroup’s Rule 7.1 statement states what is practically
common knowledge in the financid world, which is that Citibank is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Citicorp, which isawholly-owned subsidiary of Citigroup Inc. See Citigroup
R. 7.1 St., docket item 223.

SEC v. First Jersey Sec., Inc., 101 F.3d 1450, 1473 (2d Cir. 1996) (quoting 17 C.F.R. 8
240.12b-2).

See, e.g., In re Philip Servs. Corp. Sec. Litig., N0.98 Civ. 835 (MBM), 2004 WL 1152501,
at *19 (S.D.N.Y. May 24, 2004); In re WorldCom, Inc. Sec. Litig., 294 F. Supp.2d 392,
415-16 (S.D.N.Y. 2003) (for purposes of pleading the control element of a § 20(a) clam,
“[a] short, plain statement that gives the defendant fair notice of the claim that the
defendant was a control person and the ground on which it reds its assertion that a
defendant was a control person isall that isrequired.”); Neubauer, 158 F.R.D. at 284-85.

Cf. Parmalat 1, 2005 WL 1527674, a *19-20.

BNL argues, relying on In re WorldCom, Inc. Sec. Litig., No. 02 Civ. 3288 (DLC), 2004
WL 1097786, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. May 18, 2004), that a bare allegation of a parent/subsidiary
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VII. Conclusion
The motions of the defendant financial institutions to dismiss the complaint are

disposed of asfollows:

1. Citigroup’ smotion[04 M D 1653, docket item 28] isdeniedinsofar as Counts
X, X1V, and XV of the complaint seek to hold Citigroup liable for
participating in transactions involving allegedly worthless invoices, and
otherwise granted.

2. BoA’smotions [04 MD 1653, docket items 14 & 16] are granted.

3. BNL’smotion [04 MD 1653, docket item 51] isgranted to the extent that the
complaint asserts claims on behalf of purchasers of Parmalat securities not
resident in the United States and otherwise denied.

4. CSFB’s motion [04 MD 1653, docket item 15] is granted to the extent that
the complaint asserts claims on behalf of purchasers of Parmalat securities
not resident in the United States and otherwise denied.

The plaintiffs are granted leave to amend the complaint on or before August 8, 2005
to cure the deficiencies noted in this opinion. Should they amend, they shall serve and provide the
Court with ared- or black-lined copy of the new pleading.

SO ORDERED.

Dated: July 13, 2005
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= is g oo

United States istrict Judzsc

(The Manuscript SIgNatune abowe IS Not @an Image of the Signatune on the onginal docunrent in the Court fike.)

relationship is insufficient to establish control for purposes of pleading a Section 20(a)
claim. Even if that is so — a point on which the Court expresses no view —the plaintiffsin
thiscase have alleged morethan the barefact of aparent / subsidiary relationship, including
BNL’s ownership of nearly 100 percent of Ifitalia’ s equity, Ifitalia's identity as BNL's
factoring arm, and Ifitalia s status as BNL’ s agent for purposesof the transactions at issue
here. The allegationsregarding the Citigroup defendants’ control over the relevant entities
are & least asdetailed.



